
 

Page 1 

 

 
AGENDA  
 

Meeting: Eastern Area Planning Committee 

Place: Wessex Room - The Corn Exchange, Market Place, Devizes, SN10 

1HS 

Date: Thursday 22 August 2024 

Time: 3.00 pm 
 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Matt Hitch of Democratic Services, 

County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 718059 or email 
matthew.hitch@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 

Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines 01225 713114/713115. 
 

This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 

 
   Membership 

Cllr Philip Whitehead (Chairman) 
Cllr Paul Oatway QPM (Vice-Chairman) 

Cllr Adrian Foster 
Cllr Dr Brian Mathew 

Cllr Kelvin Nash 
Cllr Tony Pickernell 

Cllr Iain Wallis 
Cllr Stuart Wheeler 

 

 
  Substitutes: 

Cllr Ross Henning 
Cllr Mel Jacob 

Cllr Carole King 
Cllr Jerry Kunkler 
Cllr Laura Mayes  

 

 

Cllr Dominic Muns 
Cllr Sam Pearce-Kearney 

Cllr Tamara Reay 
Cllr James Sheppard 
Cllr Caroline Thomas  

 

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


 

Page 2 

 

Recording and Broadcasting Information 
 

Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast. At the 
start of the meeting, the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 

recorded. The images and sound recordings may also be used for training purposes 
within the Council.  

 
By submitting a statement or question for a meeting you are consenting that you may be 
recorded presenting this and that in any case your name will be made available on the 

public record. The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public.  
 

Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the 
Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting 
from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they 

accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in 
relation to any such claims or liabilities.  

 
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is 
available on request. Our privacy policy can be found here.  

 
Parking 

 
To find car parks by area follow this link.  
 

Public Participation 
 

Please see the agenda list on following pages for details of deadlines for submission of 

questions and statements for this meeting. 
 

For extended details on meeting procedure, submission and scope of questions and 
other matters, please consult Part 4 of the council’s constitution. 
 

The full constitution can be found at this link.  
 

Our privacy policy is found here. 
 
For assistance on these and other matters please contact the officer named above for 

details 
 

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2FecCatDisplay.aspx%3Fsch%3Ddoc%26cat%3D14031&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634060435%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=tgq%2B75eqKuPDwzwOo%2BRqU%2FLEEQ0ORz31mA2irGc07Mw%3D&reserved=0
https://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/parking-devizes
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Fecsddisplayclassic.aspx%3Fname%3Dpart4rulesofprocedurecouncil%26id%3D630%26rpid%3D24804339%26path%3D13386&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634070387%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=dYUgbzCKyoh6zLt%2BWs%2F%2B6%2BZcyNNeW%2BN%2BagqSpoOeFaY%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Feccatdisplayclassic.aspx%3Fsch%3Ddoc%26cat%3D13386%26path%3D0&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634070387%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=VAosAsVP2frvb%2FDFxP34NHzWIUH60iC2lObaISYA3Pk%3D&reserved=0
https://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/democracy-privacy-policy


 

Page 3 

 

AGENDA 

 Part I  

 Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public 

1   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies or substitutions for the meeting. 

2   Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 14) 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 11 
July 2024.  

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee. 

4   Chairman's Announcements  

 To receive any announcements through the Chair. 

5   Public Participation  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public.  

 
Statements 
 

Members of the public who wish to speak either in favour or against an 
application or any other item on this agenda are asked to register no later than 

10 minutes before the start of the meeting. If it is on the day of the meeting 
registration should be done in person. 
 

The rules on public participation in respect of planning applications are linked to 
in the Council’s Planning Code of Good Practice. The Chairman will allow up to 

3 speakers in favour and up to 3 speakers against an application, and up to 3 
speakers on any other item on this agenda. Each speaker will be given up to 3 
minutes and invited to speak immediately prior to the item being considered. 

 
Members of the public and others will have had the opportunity to make 

representations on planning applications and other items on the agenda, and to 
contact and lobby their local elected member and any other members of the 
planning committee, prior to the meeting.  

 
Those circulating such information prior to the meeting, written or photographic, 

are advised to also provide a copy to the case officer for the application or item, 
in order to officially log the material as a representation, which  will be verbally 
summarised at the meeting by the relevant officer, not included within any officer 

slide presentation if one is made. Circulation of new information which has not 
been verified by planning officers or case officers is also not permitted during the 



 

Page 4 

 

meetings. 

 
Questions 
 

To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the Council 
received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in particular, 

questions on non-determined planning applications. 
 
Those wishing to ask questions are required to give notice of any such 

questions in writing to the officer named on the front of this agenda no later than 
5pm on Thursday 15 August 2024 in order to be guaranteed of a written 

response. In order to receive a verbal response questions must be submitted no 
later than 5pm on Monday 19 August 2024. Please contact the officer named on 
the front of this agenda for further advice. Questions may be asked without 

notice if the Chairman decides that the matter is urgent. 
 

Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior 
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website. 

6   Planning Appeals and Updates (Pages 15 - 16) 

 To receive details of the completed and pending appeals between 28 June and 
9 August 2024. 

 Planning Applications (Pages 17 - 76) 

 To consider and determine the following planning applications. 

7   PL/2024/01509: Townsend Farm Yard, Poulshot, Devizes, SN10 1RZ (Pages 

77 - 136) 

 Redevelopment of redundant farmyard to provide 14 ‘net zero’ dwellings 
(including 4 affordable dwellings) and associated works. 

8   PL/2024/05326: Forest View, East Grafton, Marlborough, SN8 3DB (Pages 
137 - 152) 

 Erection of a new one a half storey garage building. 

9   Urgent items  

 Any other items of business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be 
taken as a matter of urgency   

 Part II  

 Items during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be 
excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed 



 
 
 

 
 
Eastern Area Planning Committee 
 

 
MINUTES OF THE EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD 

ON 11 JULY 2024 AT WESSEX ROOM - THE CORN EXCHANGE, MARKET 
PLACE, DEVIZES, SN10 1HS. 

 
Present: 
Cllr Philip Whitehead (Chairman), Cllr Paul Oatway QPM (Vice-Chairman), 

Cllr Adrian Foster, Cllr Kelvin Nash, Cllr Tony Pickernell, Cllr Iain Wallis, 
Cllr Dominic Muns (Substitute) and Cllr Sam Pearce-Kearney (Substitute) 

 
Also Present: 
Cllr Tamara Reay 
  

 

52. Apologies 
 

Apologies for absence were received from: 
 

• Cllr Stuart Wheeler – substituted by Cllr Dominic Muns 

• Cllr Dr Brian Mathew MP – substituted by Cllr Sam Pearce-Kearney 
 

53. Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 

On the proposal of Chairman, seconded by the Vice-Chairman, it was: 
 
Resolved 

 
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 13 June 2024 as a true and 

correct record.  
 

54. Declarations of Interest 

 
There were no declarations of interest.  
 

55. Chairman's Announcements 
 

There were no announcements.  
 

56. Public Participation 

 
The Committee noted the rules on public participation.  

 
57. Planning Appeals and Updates 

 

On the proposal of the Chairman, seconded by the Vice-Chairman, it was: 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
 
 

 
 
 

Resolved 
 
To note the planning appeals report for the period between 21 May and 28 

June 2024. 
 

58. PL/2024/03269: Land to the Rear of 7 The Stocks, Seend, Wiltshire, SN12 
6PL 
 

Public Participation 
 

• Mr Colin Smith (Colin Smith Planning Ltd) – spoke in opposition to the 
application. 

• Mr Alan Watters – spoke in opposition to the application. 

• Ms Charlotte Watkins (LP Planning Ltd) – spoke in support of the 
application. 

• Mrs Helen Robinson-Gordon – spoke in support of the application. 
 

The Senior Planning Officer, Lucy Rutter-Dowd introduced a report which 
recommended that the outline application for the erection of a self -build 
dwelling, with all matters reserved except for access, be refused for the reasons 

outlined in the report. Key details were stated to include the principle and 
sustainability of the development, the landscape and visual impacts, as well as 

the impact on neighbouring amenity.  
 
Attention was drawn to a late representation made by the Agent highlighting 

that the Route 49, Swindon to Trowbridge, bus ran an hourly service on 
weekdays between 6:40am and 7:40pm. However, the Senior Planning Officer 

stated that this did not alter her view that the proposed development was in an 
unsustainable location being reliant on the use of a private vehicle. 
 

It was highlighted that the proposal sought only to establish the principle of 
development and means of access, so the drawings provided were merely 

indicative. The Senior Planning Officer explained that the planning statement 
indicated that the proposed building would be a detached four-bedroomed 
dwelling with a separate garage. The drawings suggested that the building 

would be partly set into the landscape so significant excavation work would be 
required.  

 
The Senior Planning Officer noted that the general pattern of development in 
the area comprised of single rows of properties fronting the highway, whereas 

the proposed development would create ‘back land’ development in open 
countryside. As the proposed development was not consistent with the pattern 

of development in the area, it was considered to cause landscape harm and 
was contrary to Core Policy 51 (Landscape) and Core Policy 57 (High Quality 
Design and Place Shaping) of the Wiltshire Core Strategy.  

 
Furthermore, the principle of development was not supported, as the proposed 

development was contrary to Core Policy 1 (Settlement Strategy) and Core 
Policy 2 (Delivery Strategy) of the Wiltshire Core Strategy. As exception criteria 
in the Wiltshire Core Strategy were not met, the proposed development was 

Page 6



 
 
 

 
 
 

also not in accordance with Policy SP 11 of the Seend Parish Neighbourhood 
Plan. The proposal was not considered to be infill development, a sort that 
might have been considered acceptable in small villages such as Seend 

Cleeve.  
 

Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions 
of the Senior Planning Officer. Details were sought on whether the application 
would have been recommended for approval if Wiltshire Council was still 

required to maintain a five-year housing land supply. It was confirmed that the 
application could only be considered against current policy. It was also noted 

that 5 The Stocks was the immediate neighbouring property.  
 
Members of the public then had the opportunity to present their views to the 

Committee as detailed above.  
 

The Unitary Division Member, Cllr Tamara Reay then spoke in support of the 
application.  
 

In response to the points raised by the public and Unitary Division Member, the 
Senior Planning Officer confirmed that plans for a Passivhaus dwel ling had not 

been included as part of the submission, so could not be considered by the 
Committee when deciding whether to approve outline permission.  
 

Addressing concerns that Wiltshire Council had been unable to demonstrate 
that it had permitted enough developments to meet demand for self-build 

housing, Senior Conservation and Planning Officer, Ruaridh O’Donoghue, 
emphasised the differences between the subject application and an appeal 
decision by the Inspector to allow a development of 26 self-build dwellings 

outside Malmsbury. He stressed that each application needed to be judged on 
its own merits. Although the proposed single dwelling would make a small 

contribution towards meeting the demand, it would cause visual harm.  
 
In reply to a point that the proposed development would not be visible from the 

road, the Senior Conservation and Planning Officer explained that, although the 
proposed development was not set in a protected landscape, the beauty of the 

surrounding countryside did need to be considered. He highlighted that, were 
the Committee minded to approve the application, there would be opportunities 
to impose conditions to address some concerns about the visual impact. There 

would also be opportunities to add conditions at the reserved matters stage.    
 

So that the Committee had something to debate, the Chairman, seconded by 
the Vice-Chairman, proposed that the application be refused for the reasons 
outlined in the report.  

 
A debate followed where issues such as the demand for self -build properties, 

transport, the sustainability of village life and visual impact of the development 
were discussed.  
 

Page 7



 
 
 

 
 
 

During the debate a vote to refuse permission for the application was lost. Cllr 
Dominic Muns, seconded by Cllr Iain Wallis, then proposed that the application 
be granted.  

 
It was discussed whether it would be possible to condition the orientation of the 

property to address concerns about overlooking the neighbouring property. The 
planning officers noted that the indicative sight plan showed the proposed 
property orientated towards the neighbouring property. Although the final scale 

and orientation of the dwelling could be controlled at the reserved matters 
stage, it would be possible to add an informative to advise that the neighbouring 

property, 5 The Stocks, should not be overlooked.  
 
Other conditions discussed included those relating to planning commencement, 

outdoor lighting, ecology, parking provision, access, self -build occupancy, 
drainage as well as the provision of a management statement and removal of 

permitted development rights. In addition, it was noted that an informative cou ld 
be added to secure a unilateral undertaking to meet the relevant planning 
obligations.  

 
It was taken by ascent of Committee that they were happy for the final wording 

to be delegated to the Senior Planning Officer, in consultation with the 
Chairman. At the conclusion of the discussion, it was: 
 

Resolved 
 

To GRANT outline planning permission for the erection of a self-build 
dwelling, with all matters reserved except for access. 
 

Reasons 
 

The proposed development would make a contribution towards 
addressing the demand for self-build development opportunities in 
Wiltshire and the housing need within the parish of Seend. This 

contribution was felt to outweigh the visual harm and landscape impacts. 
The Committee recognised that the proposed development would create a 

reliance on use of a private vehicle, but they were reassured that the 
presence of a regular bus service meant that the location was more 
sustainable than many comparable settlements in Wiltshire. Although the 

development site did not fall within one of the site allocations for housing 
identified within the Seend Neighbourhood Plan, the plan did support the 

principle of development that contributed to the continued and 
sustainable growth of the parish. 
 

Conditions 
 

1) OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION -COMMENCEMENT - WA2 
 

The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission, or before the 

Page 8



 
 
 

 
 
 

expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of the 
reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later. 
 

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

2) RESERVED MATTERS TO BE SUBMITTED - WA4 

 
 

An application for the approval of all of the reserved matters specified 
in condition 3 shall be made to the Local Planning Authority before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 

 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

3) RESERVED MATTERS TO BE SUBMITTED - WA4 

 
No development shall commence on site until details of the following 

matters (in respect of which approval is expressly reserved) have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority: 
 

a) The scale of the development; 
b) The layout of the development; 

c) The external appearance of the development; 
d) The landscaping of the site; 
 

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 

 
REASON: The application was made for outline planning permission 
and is granted to comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990 and Article 5 (1) of the Town and 
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 

Order 2015. 
 

4) APPROVED PLANS - WM13 

 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 

with the following approved plans and documents: 
 
Drg Title: Location Plan Proposed. Drg No: 1030:P:20. Dated: March 

2024.  
 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning. 

 

5) ACCESS LAYOUT – BESPOKE CONDITION  
 

Page 9



 
 
 

 
 
 

The access and parking only shall be laid out in accordance with the 
following approved plan and maintained as such for the lifetime of the 
development. 

 
Drg Title: Plan: Site Proposed. Drg No: 1030:P:21.  

 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning as the layout of the dwelling is also shown on this plan to 

which this matter is reserved. 
 

6) ENHANCEMENTS FOR BIODIVERSITY  
 

Prior to the commencement of any works, including vegetation 

removal and demolition, details of the number, design and locations of 
bat roosts and nesting opportunities for birds shall be submitted to the 

local authority for approval. The approved details shall be implemented 
before occupation of the final works. This condition will be discharged 
once photographic evidence of installed features has been submitted 

to and approved by the local planning authority. 
 

 
REASON: To provide mitigation /enhancement for biodiversity. 

 

7) LIGHTING  
 

No new external lighting will be installed within the site unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the LPA, other than domestic lighting 
necessary for safety. 

 
REASON: To avoid illumination of habitat used by bats. 

 
8) PARKING PROVISION  

 

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be first brought into 
use /occupied until the access, turning area and parking spaces on the 

approved drawing have been provided with at least one space for the 
new build having EV provision. The areas shall always be maintained 
for those purposes thereafter and maintained free from the storage of 

materials. 
 

REASON: In the interests of highway safety. 
 

9) CONSOLIDATED ACCESS  

 
The development hereby permitted shall not be first brought into 

use/occupied until the first 5m of the access, measured from the edge 
of the carriageway, has been consolidated and surfaced (not loose 
stone or gravel). The access shall be maintained as such thereafter. 

 
REASON: In the interests of highway safety 

Page 10



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
10)  CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT STATEMENT  

 

No development shall commence on site (including any works of 
demolition), until a Construction Management Statement, together with 

a site plan, which shall include the following: 
 
1. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 

2. Number and size of delivery vehicles/ construction vehicles 
3. loading and unloading of plant and materials; 

4. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 
development; 
5. wheel washing facilities; 

6. measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during 
construction; 

7. a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition 
and construction works; and 
8. measures for the protection of the natural environment. 

9. hours of construction, including deliveries; 
10. Site plan showing the location of operative paring, storage , 

delivery drop off area and wheel washing station. 
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the 

construction period. The development shall not be carried out 
otherwise than in accordance with the approved construction method 

statement without the prior written permission of the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 

REASON: To minimise detrimental effects to the neighbouring 
amenities, the amenities of the area in general, detriment to the natural 

environment through the risks of pollution and dangers to highway 
safety, during the construction phase. 

 

11)  PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT REMOVAL-GENERAL - WE1 
 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended 
by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

(Amendment) (No.3) (England) Order 2020 (or any Order revoking or re-
enacting or amending those Orders with or without modification), no 

development within Part 1, Classes A-H shall take place on the 
dwellinghouse hereby permitted or within its curtilage. 
 

REASON: In the interests of the amenity of the area as the site is in a 
prominent position within the open countryside, and to enable the 

Local Planning Authority to consider individually whether planning 
permission should be granted for additions, extensions, or 
enlargements. 

 
12)  SELF-BUILD AND CUSTOM HOUSEBUILDING DWELLING  

Page 11



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
The residential unit in the development hereby permitted shall be 
constructed as a self-build and custom housebuilding dwelling within 

the definitions of self-build and custom housebuilding in the 2015 Self-
Build and Custom Housebuilding Act (as amended):  

 
i. The first occupation of the unit in the development hereby 

permitted shall be by a person or persons who had a primary 

input into the design and layout of the dwelling, and who 
intends to live in the unit for at least 3 years; 

ii. The Council shall be notified of the persons who intend to 
take up first occupation of each unit in the development 
hereby permitted as least two months prior to first 

occupation. 
 

REASON: To ensure the development complies with the self-build and 
custom housebuilding definition, to help to meet the districts self-build 
requirement in accordance with National Policy, and to ensure the 

development complies with The Biodiversity Gain Requirements 
(Exemptions) Regulations 2024. 

 
SUGGESTED INFORMATIVES:  
 

13)  DRAINAGE  
 

All new drainage will need to comply with Building Regulations Part H. 
Any soakaways should be constructed in accordance with CIRIA C574 
and the Wiltshire Guidance.  

 
14)  UNILATERAL UNDERTAKING  

 
This permission shall be read in conjunction with the Unilateral 
Undertaking’ (dated: ……….) relating to land To the rear of 7 The 

Stocks, Seend, SN12 6PL.  
 

15)  LAYOUT, SCALE AND DESIGN 
 

The layout, scale and design of the dwelling shall be designed as such 

so as to completely avoid any impacts to neighbour amenity in terms 
of proximity, over shadowing, overbearing impact and especially 

overlooking/loss of privacy. Consideration should be given to position 
of the dwelling and outbuildings within the plot, orientation of the 
buildings, window placement and boundary treatments to ensure this 

remains the case.   
 

59. Urgent items 
 
There were no urgent items.  

 

Page 12



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
(Duration of meeting:  3.00  - 4.00 pm) 

 

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Matt Hitch of Democratic Services, 
direct line 01225 718059, e-mail matthew.hitch@wiltshire.gov.uk 

 
Press enquiries to Communications, direct line 01225 713114 or email 

communications@wiltshire.gov.uk 

 
 

Page 13

mailto:communications@wiltshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Wiltshire Council   
Eastern Area Planning Committee 

22nd August 2024 
   
  Planning Appeals Received between 28/06/2024 and 09/08/2024 

Application 
No 

Site Location Parish Proposal DEL or 
COMM 

Appeal Type Officer 
Recommend 

Appeal 
Start Date 

Overturn 
at Cttee 

PL/2023/08121 1a Central Street, 
Ludgershall, Andover, SP11 
9RA 

Ludgershall Proposed creation of new vehicular 
access including drop kerb 

DEL Householder 
Appeal 

Refuse 11/07/2024 No 

PL/2023/10509 9 Ermin Close, Baydon, 
Marlborough, Wilts, SN8 
2JQ 

Baydon Erection of closed board fence that 
sits on top of existing wall 

DEL Householder 
Appeal 

Refuse 04/07/2024 No 

PL/2023/10602 Newlands, 3, Seend Cleeve, 
Seend, Melksham, SN12 
6PS 

Seend Rear first floor sun canopy 
extension & two front porch 
extensions for the two front doors. 

DEL Householder 
Appeal 

Refuse 23/07/2024 No 

 
  Planning Appeals Decided between 28/06/2024 and 09/08/2024 

Application No Site Location Parish Proposal DEL 
or 
COMM 

Appeal Type Officer 
Recommend 

Appeal 
Decision 

Decision 
Date 

Costs 
Awarded? 

PL/2022/08709 Land at the corner of 
Pigott Close & Salisbury 
Road, Netheravon, 
Salisbury, SP4 9QF 

Netheravon The construction of two 
detached dwellings and 
associated infrastructure 
(resubmission of 
PL/2022/05819) 

DEL Written Reps Refuse Dismissed 29/06/2024 None 
 

PL/2023/03842 Etchilhampton House, 
Etchilhampton, Devizes, 
SN10 3JH 

Etchilhampton Installation of solar panels on 
the roof of the curtilage listed 
garage outbuilding. 

DEL Written Reps Refuse Allowed with 
Conditions 

09/07/2024 None 
 

PL/2023/04167 Etchilhampton House, 
Etchilhampton, Devizes, 
SN10 3JH 

Etchilhampton Installation of solar panels on 
the roof of the curtilage listed 
garage outbuilding. 

DEL Written Reps Refuse Allowed with 
Conditions 

09/07/2024 None 
 

 

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Eastern Area Planning 

Committee

22nd August 2024

P
age 17

A
genda A

nnex



Site Location Plan Aerial Photography

7) PL/2024/01509 Townsend Farm Yard, Poulshot Road, Poulshot, Devizes, Wiltshire, SN10 1RZ

Redevelopment of redundant farmyard to provide 14 ‘net zero’ dwellings (including 4 affordable dwellings) 

and associated works

Recommendation: Approve with conditions and subject to S106 agreement 

P
age 18



Proposed Block Plan 

P
age 19



Landscaping Plan 

P
age 20



Solar Panel, Heat Pump and EV Charging Point Plan

P
age 21



Cross Sections Plan

P
age 22



Plots 1 Plans (conversion and extension of the ‘Coach House’)

P
age 23



Plots 2-5 Elevations

P
age 24



Plot 6 Plans

P
age 25



Plot 7 Elevations

P
age 26



Plot 8 Elevations

P
age 27



Plot 9 Elevations

P
age 28



Plot 10 Elevations

P
age 29



Plots 11 and 12 Elevations

P
age 30



Plot 13 Elevations

P
age 31



Plot 14 Plans

P
age 32



Plot 14 Garage and Plots 2-5 Garden Stores

P
age 33



Plot 10 Garage

Plot 1 and 6 Garage

P
age 34



Plot 9 Garage

Plot 13 Garage

P
age 35



Frontage of the existing site

P
age 36



View along public highway and front of site

P
age 37



View along public highway and front of site

P
age 38



Frontage of the existing site facing adjacent nursery

P
age 39



Proposed and existing access area

P
age 40



View from Public Highway towards ‘Plot 1’; the converted ‘Coach House’

P
age 41



Existing front elevation of the ‘Coach House’ (Plot 1)

P
age 42



Photo inside of the ‘Coach House’ (Plot 1)

P
age 43



View within the existing farmstead

P
age 44



View within the existing farmstead towards in 
use barn and 22 Townsend site (to the right-hand side)

P
age 45



View to the slurry pit

P
age 46



View within redundant barn

P
age 47



View within farmstead facing south-east

P
age 48



Facing north-west within the farmstead

P
age 49



Barns within farmstead facing south-west

P
age 50



Barn within farmstead facing north-east

P
age 51



Facing north-east within the farmstead

P
age 52



View from site to neighbouring properties

P
age 53



View from site to south-western boundary

P
age 54



North part of site facing south-east

P
age 55



View from north-eastern field facing the site

P
age 56



View from north-eastern field facing the site

P
age 57



View of farmstead facing south-west

P
age 58



View from site to south-east

P
age 59



View from site to south (barn currently in use)

P
age 60



View from informal track towards the 
amenity/attenuation pond proposed area

P
age 61



View from informal track towards Byde Mill Lane

P
age 62



View from track (to remain) towards the 
proposed amenity/attenuation pond area

P
age 63



Existing highway entrance to ‘Poulshot’

P
age 64



View from proposed footway area

P
age 65



View around highway bend where the footway 
is proposed

P
age 66



View from highway bend where the footway 
is proposed (linking to footway just after the telegraph pole)

P
age 67



Site Location Plan Aerial Photography

8) PL/2024/05326 Forest View, East Grafton, Marlborough, SN8 3DB

Erection of garage

Recommendation: Refuse 

P
age 68



Proposed Site Plan (which includes the previously permitted, but not 
yet implemented, scheme for two additional dwellings on site)

P
age 69



Proposed Elevation and Floor Plans

P
age 70



View of the application site from the public highway

P
age 71



View within site facing the existing annex building

P
age 72



View within site the proposed garage location

P
age 73



View within site towards tree to be removed 
and hedgerow at risk

P
age 74



View within site towards the proposed garage location
and the vehicular access point

P
age 75



Eastern Area Planning 

Committee

22nd August 2024

P
age 76



Page 77

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE Report No.  

Date of Meeting 22nd August 2024 

Application Number PL/2024/01509 

Site Address Townsend Farm Yard, Poulshot Road, Poulshot, Devizes, 
Wiltshire, SN10 1RZ 
 

Proposal Redevelopment of redundant farmyard to provide 14 ‘net 

zero’ dwellings (including 4 affordable dwellings) and 
associated works 

Applicant Gaiger Brothers Ltd  

Town/Parish Council POULSHOT CP 

Electoral Division Devizes Rural West 

Grid Ref 53.409749, -5.627462 

Type of application Full Planning 

Case Officer  Meredith Baker 

 

Reason for the application being considered by Committee 
 

This application has been brought before the Planning Committee as the scheme is 
considered a departure from the policies of the statutory development plan and is 
being recommended for approval.  

 
A call-in request was also made by Councillor Tamara Reay if the application was 

being recommended for refusal on the grounds that: “the applicant has engaged 
extensively with the local community and the Parish Council. The Parish Council is 
supportive of the proposals for this brownfield site development.” Given the 

recommendation of approval this call-in is not the formal reason for the application 
being considered by Planning Committee.  

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 

The purpose of the report is to assess the merits of the proposal against the policies 
of the development plan and other material consideration, and to consider the 

recommendation that planning permission be GRANTED subject to the recommended 
conditions and a legal (Section 106) agreement, for the reasons detailed below.  
 

2. Report Summary 
 

The main planning issues are considered to be:  
 

• Whether the development is acceptable in principle (CP 1, 2 and 48); 

• Whether the scheme constitutes high quality design (CP 57); 

• Whether the scheme would have an acceptable landscape impact (CP 51); 

Page 79



• Whether the scheme would preserve or enhance the historic environment (CP 
58); 

• Whether the proposal has suitable regard to the compatibility and impact on 
neighbouring amenities (CP57); 

• Whether the proposal would have a negative effect upon highway safety 
including if there is sufficient parking for the proposed development and suitable 

access arrangements (CP 61 and 64);  

• Whether the site can be adequately drained without increasing flood risk 

elsewhere (CP 67); 

• Whether there would be any harmful impacts upon protected species or 
habitats (CP 50);  

• Whether there will be any land contamination issues (CP 55);  

• Are there any other planning issues raised by the development?  

• What planning obligations are required to make the development acceptable in 
planning terms? 

 
 

3. Site Description 

 
The application site relates to a 2.34 hectare site comprising the existing farm complex 

of Townsend Farm Yard and parts of the adjacent highway and agricultural fields. The 
site contains a range of agricultural buildings, land, extensive areas of hardstanding 
and former slurry pits/silage clamps. All of the buildings, save for the red brick coach 

house at the front of the site are of a more modern construction, with a utilitarian 
appearance. The site is relatively flat with some small undulations. It has been 

confirmed within the Planning Statement that the operation of the farmyard for dairy 
cows ceased in the summer of 2021.  
 

The site is located within the cluster of buildings forming the settlement of Townsend; 
it is connected to the settlement of Poulshot, which lies to the north-east along 

Poulshot Road. To the north of the application site, lies agricultural fields and the 
Public Right of Way Byway (POUL3). To the immediate south -east are residential 
dwellings fronting the public highway of Poulshot Road. Then , to the immediate south- 

west is a mixture of residential dwellings (including the Grade II listed building of 
Townsend Farm) and other buildings, including Townsend Barn Nursery (School). The 

‘front’ of the site fronting the public highway lies within the Poulshot Conservation Area 
and the designation covers the buildings adjacent to Poulshot Road.  
 

Below is an extract from the submitted Location Plan that shows the context of the 
site.  

 

Page 80



 
 

4. Planning History 

 
E/2011/0994/FUL - Extension of existing forage bunker by removing existing end wall 

and constructing concrete floor and wall panels to match existing – Granted 
11.09.2011 
 

E/09/1589/FUL – Extend existing cow shed – Granted 18.01.2010 
 

K/51571/F - New covered yard, cow shed and silos  - Granted 10.03.2005 
 
K/50476/F - Convert redundant coach house and stables to agricultural workers 

dwelling accommodation. – Refused 11.08.2004 
 

K/39692 – Cow housing for 46 cows – Granted 14.08.2000 
 
K/33826 – Extension to farm building – Granted 26.02.1997 

 
K/20526 – Alterations to existing dung storage – Granted 02.09.1993 

 
K/16524 – Erection of cattle feed store – Granted 23.10.1990 
 

K/81/0267 – Agricultural Building – Granted 28.05.1981 
 

Page 81



5. The Proposal  
 

The application seeks full planning permission for the redevelopment of the mainly 
redundant farmyard to provide 14 ‘net zero’ dwellings (four of which would be 

affordable housing) and associated works.  
 
The fourteen dwellings are proposed as follows: 

 

• Plot 1– Conversion and extension of the significant unlisted coach house 

building, fronting Poulshot Road. The resultant dwelling would be three 
bedroomed with brick and natural grey slate materials. A double garage would 
be sited to the rear of the private garden for this dwelling.  

• Plots 2 and 3 – Semi-detached pair located to the ‘front of the site’. They would 
be two storey in nature and would be constructed of brick and plain clay tiles. 

Plot 2 would be orientated so the principal elevation fronts Poulshot Road. Two 
parking spaces are proposed for both dwellings in a tandem arrangement. Plot 

2 would be three bedroomed, and Plot 3 would be two bedroomed.  

• Plots 4 and 5 – Semi-detached pair facing the internal access road (orientated 
north-west). They would be two storey in nature and two parking spaces are 

proposed for both dwellings in a tandem arrangement. Plot 4 would be two 
bedroomed and constructed of brick and plain clay tile, and Plot 5 would be 

three bedroomed and constructed of render and plain clay tile.  

• Plot 6 – A detached two storey dwelling that would be located to the south 
eastern part of the site. The dwelling would be constructed of brick and plain 

clay tiles and would be three bedroomed in nature. A detached double garage 
is located to the side of the dwelling to the south-west.  

• Plot 7 – A detached two storey dwelling that would be located to the south- 
eastern part of the site. The dwelling would be constructed of brick and plain 

clay tiles and would be four bedroomed in nature. An attached double garage 
is located to the side of the dwelling to the north-east which would have timber 
cladding walls.  

• Plot 8 – A detached two storey dwelling that would be located to the south- 
eastern part of the site. The dwelling would be constructed of render and natural 

grey slate and would be four bedroomed in nature. An attached double garage 
is located to the side of the dwelling to the south-west.  

• Plot 9 – A detached two storey dwelling situated to the eastern side of the plot. 

The dwelling would be constructed of brick and Double Roman clay tile and 
would be five bedroomed in nature. A detached triple one and half storey 

garage is located to the side of the dwelling to the south -west. 

• Plot 10 - A detached two storey dwelling situated within the middle part of the 

site. The dwelling would be constructed of brick and natural grey slate and 
would be four bedroomed in nature. A double garage is located to the front of 
the dwelling to the south-west. 

• Plots 11 and 12 - A semi-detached pair situated within the middle part of the 
site. The dwellings would be two storey in nature would be constructed of brick 

and natural grey slate and would be two bedroomed in nature each  (the study 
rooms are not of sufficient scale to be counted as a bedroom). An attached 
single garage would be provided for both dwellings to the side which would be 

timber cladded with grey slate roofing.  

Page 82



• Plot 13 - A detached two storey dwelling situated to the north part of the site. 
The dwelling would be constructed of brick and Double-Roman clay tile and 

would be five bedroomed in nature. A detached, one and a half storey double 
garage is located to the east of the dwelling.  

• Plot 14 - A detached two storey dwelling situated to the western part of the site 
to the north of the access and would have the principal elevation fronting 

Poulshot Road. The dwelling would be constructed of render and plain clay tiles 
and would be three bedroomed in nature. A single garage is located to the rear 
of the dwelling to the north-east.  

 
The scheme also proposes a vehicular access into the site and internal roads, together 

with parking spaces and visitor parking spaces. A substation would be present to the 
north-west of the site along with a new pedestrian pathway from within the site towards 
Byde Mill Lane. A new bus stop shelter is also proposed fronting Poulshot Road; a 

new footpath would be formed along the corner of the highway of Poulshot Road; and 
works to the entrance village signage are also proposed. Public green space with a 

pond and swale is proposed to the north-west part of the site as well as a water culvert 
works to the northern part of the site.  
 

Proposed scheme:  
 

 
Proposed Block Plan 

 

Page 83



 
 

Soft Landscaping Plan 

 

 
Site Cross Section 

Page 84



Planning Policy 
 

National Planning Policy Framework 2023 (NPPF) 
 

Section 2 (Achieving sustainable development) 
Section 4 (Decision-making) 
Section 5 (Delivering a sufficient supply of homes) 

Section 6 (Building a strong, competitive economy) 
Section 8 (Promoting healthy and safe communities)  

Section 9 (Promoting sustainable transport) 
Section 11 (Making effective use of land) 
Section 14 (Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change) 

Section 15 (Conserving and enhancing the natural environment) 
Section 16 (Conserving and enhancing the historic environment)  

 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
National Design Guide 

 
Wiltshire Core Strategy (WCS): 

 
Core Policy 1 (Settlement Strategy)  
Core Policy 2 (Delivery Strategy)  

Core Policy 3 (Infrastructure Requirements)  
Core Policy 15 (Melksham Community Area)  

Core Policy 41 (Sustainable Construction and Low-Carbon Energy)  
Core Policy 43 (Affordable Housing) 
Core Policy 45 (Meeting Wiltshire’s housing need)  

Core Policy 48 (Supporting Rural Life) 
Core Policy 50 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity)  

Core Policy 51 (Landscape) 
Core Policy 52 (Green Infrastructure)  
Core Policy 56 (Contaminated Land) 

Core Policy 57 (Ensuring High Quality Design and Place Shaping) 
Core Policy 58 (Ensuring the Conservation of the Historic Environment) 

Core Policy 60 (Sustainable Transport) 
Core Policy 61 (Transport and New Development) 
Core Policy 62 (Development Impacts on the Transport Network) 

Core Policy 67 (Flood Risk) 
 

Saved Policies of the Kennet District Local Plan 
 
Policy HC35 (Recreation provision on small housing sites)  

Policy HC37 (Demand for Education) 
 

Other Material Documents 
 
Waste Storage and Collection: Guidance for Developers 

Revised Wiltshire Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (October 
2016)  

Wiltshire Local Transport Plan 2011 – 2026 – Car Parking Strategy (March 2011)  

Page 85



Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 

Poultshot Conservation Area Appraisal  
Wiltshire Character Assessment 

Historic England – GPA 1 – Managing Significance in Decision-Taking in the Historic 
Environment  
Historic England – GPA2 – The setting of Heritage Assets 

Planning Consultation Guidance Notes 
Wiltshire Design Guidance   

Wiltshire and Swindon Waste Core Strategy (2009) 
 

6. Consultation responses 

 
Poulshot Parish Council: “After careful consideration and debate by members, 

especially regarding the concerns over current state of the site and its future condition, 
should the development not be approved, also members appreciative 
acknowledgement of the extensive consultation that has taken place with the 

parishioners and Members over the past 18th months. 
 

It was proposed by Cllr Scott, seconded by Cllr Davis and RESOLVED to positively 
support the application PL/2024/01509 and include the following comments, that it 
would improve that end of the village, hopefully help to address the flooding issues, 

improve the surrounding infrastructure and that the site had a very poor future if the 
development was not approved.” 

 
Wiltshire Council Landscape Officer: “In conclusion I have placed a holding landscape 
objection on the scheme until the following points have been dealt with: 

 
- A layout more sensitive to the sites historical and landscape character context. 

- More evidence that the PoS provided meets the minimum requirements necessary 
- A LEMP that sets out how the mitigating landscaping will be maintained to maturity 
(especially in rear private garden plots.” 

 
Wiltshire Council Urban Design Officer: “I note the consultation response from the 

Conservation Officer which has considered the design and appearance. The design 
would be appropriate and sensitive to its context and setting to accord with Core Policy 
57. I have no design matters to raise but note the principle of development of additional 

residential properties and nature of this, would be subject of other disciplines ie Local 
Plan, Wiltshire Core Strategy Core Policy 2: local housing need and presumably the 

farming can be reasonably maintained without the need for these and subsequent 
replacement buildings on open land.” 
 

Wiltshire Council Housing Enabling Officer: No objection subject to Section 106 
agreement.  

“Based on the proposed scheme of 14 residential units, there would therefore be a 
requirement to provide 4 affordable units on the site. We note the applicant has stated 
that 4 affordable units would be included on the scheme.” 

 
Wiltshire Council Highway Officer: No objection subject to conditions and Section 278 

agreement with the Highway Authority.  

Page 86



 
Wiltshire Council Ecology Officer: No objection subject to conditions.  

 
Wiltshire Council Conservation Officer: No objection subject to conditions. 

 
Wiltshire Council Public Protection Officer: No objection subject to conditions.  
 

Wiltshire Council Archaeology Officer: No objection.  
 

Wiltshire Council Education Officer: No objection subject to Section 106 agreement.  
 
Wiltshire Council Public Open Space Officer: No objection subject to Section 106 

agreement.  
 

Wiltshire Council Drainage Officer: No objection subject to conditions.  
 
Wiltshire Council Climage Officer: No objection subject to conditions.  

 
Wiltshire Council Right of Way Officer: (Initial comments) No objection subject to 

conditions and Section 106 agreement.  
(Final comments): Subject to conditions relating to the footpath and permissive 
footpath the request for contributions to be controlled by a Section 106 agreement is 

withdrawn.  
 

Dorset & Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service: Comment regarding building regulation 
matters and recommendations to domestic sprinkler protection.  
 

7. Publicity  
 

The application has been advertised by letter to local residents. Thirteen letters of 
objection/comments with concerns were received, five letters of support were received 
and three letters of comments/mixed were received. The comments are summarised 

as follows:   
 

Objection/concern 
 

- The access is too close to the dangerous blind bend along Poulshot Road. 

- The existing access point was not heavily used whereby the 14 dwelling use 
would have considerably more vehicle movements which would result in 

highway safety issues and congestion.  
- Green verge to the frontage of the site should have bollards to stop illegal 

parking. Concern who would maintain the verge.  

- Consider that kerbing and drainage is required throughout the village from the 
dual carriageway to Townsend. 

- Consider that widening of the highway bends are required and the surfacing 
fixed.  

- Existing pavements need to be repaired and extended.  

- Construction traffic using junction of Poulshot Road with Worton/Seend Road 
need to use this junction and enforced rigorously.  

Page 87



- Area between the farmyard and road is prone to flooding which needs to be 
resolved.  

- Further highway measures required to reduce speed limit and introduce traffic-
calming.  

- Degradation of village through numerous developments in the area.  
- Poulshot Road is not a quiet village road with construction traffic for 

development in the area degrading the highway.  

- Additional people using inadequate or non-existent pavements.  
- Concern for increased noise and pollution.  

- Concern that the proposal would result in greater risk of flooding.  
- Inadequate sewage system for the development. 
- Consider that there are too many houses for a small village development.  

- Site has not been advertised for sale as a farm whereby local farms are 
submitting applications elsewhere for new barns. Question the reliability and 

accuracy of the viability report carried out.  
- Loss of farm to provide local jobs and home to other businesses.  
- Proposal would extend the perceived boundary of the village.  

- Unsustainable form of development for a small village with no shops or 
amenities and would put pressure on already stretched local amenities.  

- Estate development appearance which is not in-keeping with the village.  
- Focus is made that the farm is an eyesore when it is not considered to be. The 

sympathetic colours blend with the area and height of the barns are low.  

- The proposal would not be suitable infill to meeting housing local needs.  
- The proposal would transform the rural skyline.  

- Location of bus stop opposite the entrance to the nursery would be a highway 
safety risk.  

- The heights of the buildings are out of keeping with the area. 

- Design of houses are suburban in nature and not genuinely modern or a style 
appropriate to this rural location. Opportunity being missed to create a 

distinctive development with its own sense of place.  
- Being called redundant when barns are being rented ou t of various of uses to 

local businesses.  

- Concern that planning permission for new barns will be coming to Poulshot if 
this scheme is approved.  

 
Support 
 

- Improvement to the site with the removal of the dilapidated buildings on site.  
- Salisbury & Wilton Swifts support the inclusion of 27 integrated swift bricks and 

the bat and bird box layout. It is recommended that the locations of bricks are 
marked on the elevations drawings to ensure no oversight during construction.  

- Proposal would appear sympathetic.  

- Support that the site would be cleared of decaying buildings and large areas of 
concrete which contributes to flooding at Townsend.  

- Redevelopment would allow the present drainage issues to be resolved and 
improve the problems of flooding. The scheme would improve the situation and 
not be exacerbated.  

- Number of dwellings acceptable given the location of the access.  
- Link to right of way near to Townsend is welcomed.  

Page 88



- Most traffic passing through Townsend is vehicles going elsewhere and mainly 
using the road as a rat run. Additional traffic from 14 dwellings would not be a 

serious addition to this.  
- Rest of the farm estate is continuing to be farmed, but without the former dairy 

herd, the farmyard is clearly redundant and an eyesore.  
- Issues such as footpaths and kerbs in Poulshot are not germane to the 

Townsend Farm issues.  

- Forcing large vehicles to the Worton end of the village will only cause problems 
for Worton. 

 
Additional comments 
 

- Wish to see money generated from the project support the wider village 
including anti speeding and traffic calming measures.  

- Consideration should be afforded towards moving the 30 mph limit further out 
to slow down vehicles.  

- Consideration should be afforded to making the remainder of the road up to the 

junction with Seend-Worton Road subject to 40 mph limit.  
- Restriction of hours of construction and demolition should be imposed and 

steps to minimise dust, noise and smell during construction works.  
- Opportunity should be taken to restore damaged verges of the area.  

 

 
8. Planning Considerations  

 
Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require that the determination of 

planning applications must be made in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. At the current time the statutory 

development plan in respect of this application comprises the Wiltshire Core Strategy 
(WCS) and the ‘saved’ policies of the Kennet Local Plan 2011.  
 

Principle of Development 
  

-      Wiltshire Core Strategy (WCS) 
  
The Development Plan comprises the Wiltshire Core Strategy (WCS). In the interests 

of promoting sustainable development and the protection of the countryside, the 
policies of the Core Strategy seek to restrict all new residential development to 

locations within the Limits of Development defined for the towns and village. The 
settlement strategy of the WCS, as detailed within Core Policy 1 ‘Settlement Strategy’ 
and Core Policy 2 ‘Delivery Strategy’ states that there is a presumption in favour of 

sustainable development within the Principal Settlements, Market Towns, Local 
Service Centres and Large Villages. In the case of Small Villages, the strategy defines 

the level of growth appropriate for residential development within the built-up area of 
a small village as ‘infill’ only. Development should be restricted to within the limits of 
development other than in exceptional circumstances.  

 
The application site is situated within the Melksham Community Area (Core Policy 15). 

It is claimed that the application site lies within the southern end of Poulshot Village. It 

Page 89



is considered that the application site does not form part of the settlement of Poulshot 
(albeit it is acknowledged on site that the Poulshot village highway ‘sign’ is sited on 

Poulshot Road before the highway bend to the west and the site is also partially within 
the Poulshot Conservation Area). When considering maps of the area (including 

Ordnance Survey maps) there is a separate settlement of ‘Townsend’ which this 
application site is part of. Although noting that Poulshot is a linear form of development 
and has some connections to Townsend (including the Conservation Area covering 

both areas), there is an adequate separation between the built-up areas (noting the 
intervening agricultural fields) to be two settlements. As such , the application site is 

not considered to lie within the settlement of Poulshot.  
 
Townsend is not an identified Local Service Centre, Large or Small village and thus 

the development is considered to be in the open countryside in terms of planning 
policy. In any event, if the application site were to be deemed part of Poulshot, the 

development would not cmprise ‘infill’ development given the nature of the proposal 
(in particular being a major application which would not be filling a small gap within the 
village that is only large enough for not more than a few dwellings). As such, the 

proposal is considered to be contrary to Core Policies 1 and 2 which restrict 
development outside the limits of development, unless allowed for under permitted 

circumstances under other policies within the plan. This scheme is not allocated within 
any development plan nor is it a rural exception site.  
 

When considering the permitted circumstances, it is noted that the coach house 
element is partly a conversion and re-use of a rural building that could fall under Core 

Policy 48. A structural report has been submitted to demonstrate that the building is 
capable of being converted. Although this structural report has been submitted, the 
proposal for ‘Plot 1’ also seeks a large extension to the rear. This extension is not 

considered to strictly accord with the policy wording of Core Policy 48 in that “only 
necessary extension or modification which preserves the character of the original 

building’ would be permitted. In this regard, whilst the extension is deemed sensitive 
to the character and appearance of the building and located to the rear, the scale is 
not considered a ‘necessary’ extension for the converted building (noting the scale is 

substantial in comparison with the original building footprint) and therefore the part of 
the proposal is considered to not accord with Core Policy 48.  

 
Although the provision of new dwellings on the site would be contrary to the housing 
policies of the Core Strategy and thus is deemed unsustainable in terms of siting, it is 

noted that the development plan is silent on re-development of land. It is undoubtedly 
considered a benefit to bring a use to a redundant farm but such a benefit, with other 

benefits that will be discussed within this report, will be considered as part of the 
planning balance at the end of this report against the harms of the proposal (which 
includes the harm that the proposal is contrary to the housing policies of the Core 

Strategy).  
 

It is therefore concluded that the proposed development would not accord with the 
housing policies of the Development Plan and would also not fall within any of the 
exception policies for housing. As such the proposal is considered contrary to Core 

Policies 1, 2 and 15 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy. 
 

 

Page 90



• Housing Land Supply – titled balance not engaged 
 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was subsequently updated in 
December 2023 and under the latest national requirements, Wiltshire Council is now 

only required to demonstrate a 4-year housing land supply given the stage of 
advancement of the emerging new Local Plan. At present, the Council  is able to 
demonstrate a housing land supply exceeding 4-years, currently confirmed at 4.2 

years (published via the Housing Land Supply Statement - Base date: April 2023 - 
published in June 2024). As such, at the time of producing this report, the presumption 

in favour of sustainable development (or ‘tilted balance’) does not apply to this 
application with regard to housing land supply. 
 

It is acknowledged that an open consultation is currently underway for proposed 
changes to the NPPF under “Proposed reforms to the National Planning Policy 

Framework and other changes to the planning system” published 30 July 2024. Whilst 
this is only a consultation and not a formal change to the NPPF, it clearly outlines the 
intent to revert the changes to the NPPF made in December 2023 relating to the 

requirement to only demonstrate a 4-year housing land supply given the stage of 
advancement of the emerging new Local Plan. If the change under the consultation is 

formalised there will be a requirement for Wiltshire Council to demonstrate a 5-year 
housing land supply, which it cannot at present. Thus the titled balance would be 
engaged.  

 
As this is only in the consultation period, very limited weight can be afforded towards 

this direction. The position officially stands that the tilted balance is not engaged due 
to the provisions of the current 2023 revision of the NPPF. A general planning balance 
of the proposal is still being made under the Conclusion/Planning Balance section at 

the end of this report.  
 

• Loss of the agricultural commercial unit 
 

The proposal would result in the loss of an agricultural unit. As confirmed within the 
submission, the unit was used recently as a dairy unit until its closure in 2021, 
furthermore milking on site ceased in 2019. Only a few buildings are being used on 

site by an arable contractor for storage to date. The loss of the agricultural unit is 
undesirable however the Core Strategy is silent on the loss the loss of rural agricultural 

units. The dairy unit is not a rural service or community facility that would be controlled 
by Core Policy 49, which seeks the protection of rural facilities and services that benefit 
the local community such as shops, cultural buildings or public houses that are 

protected to ensure that settlements can still meet some of the day-to-day needs of 
the people who live in them.  
 

Whilst not a rural service or community facility that would be controlled under the Core 
Strategy policies, the proposal would result in the loss of a commercial unit for the 

area, including potential employment opportunities.  Paragraphs 88 and 89 of the 
NPPF seek to support a prosperous rural economy. Although the loss of an economic 
use in the area is acknowledged, the applicant has submitted an Agricultural Use 

Assessment which has concluded that any alternative agricultural use would require 
significant investment and also deems different types of agricultural enterprises invalid 

and inappropriate for the site.  In particular, it has been considered within this 

Page 91



assessment that for a future dairy use, significant investment would be required. The 
redundant state of the farm has resulted in some buildings deteriorating and many 

buildings are at the end of their lifespan. There is a lack of appropriate milking 
infrastructure and slurry regulations (with the slurry handling coming to the end of its 

lifespan) as such significant investment, which is not considered economically viable, 
would be required to bring back a dairy use. It was furthermore noted that given its 
location in relation to other residential dwellings and significant complaints received 

from residents in the locality, issues such as noise, smell and dust would need to be 
addressed if any future enterprise on site were to be established.  

 
Regarding beef cattle, due to the tight margins in this line of work, and the requirement 
to invest in the buildings to meet the requirements of the enterprise, this aspect would 

not be economically viable. Sheep has been discussed but acknowledged the 
buildings would be redundant as would not all be required in connection to this 

enterprise and would fall into further disrepair. Then , in relation to pigs, chickens and 
other specialist enterprises it was considered that there are no provisions for 
converting the buildings and significant investment would be required to upgrade 

buildings, replace buildings and to upgrade slurry handling facilities. Investment has 
been outlined to be considerably over £500,000 to have an efficient unit. 

 
The assessment made within this report concludes that the current state of the 
buildings would mean that any new or proposed enterprise would require significant 

investment to establish an efficient and profitable business. The redevelopment of the 
site would be significantly costly and therefore with the agricultural industry struggling 

with limited profits, the investment is not considered viable.  
 
There is no reason to dispute the submitted report’s conclusions. It has been 

acknowledged that many of the buildings on the site are deteriorating and the 
agricultural use has not been present on the majority of the site for 3 years. The 

comments regarding the impact upon surrounding residential properties is also noted 
although this would not prevent an agricultural use on site when this is a historical 
situation.  

 
As such, it is agreed that an agricultural use on site is not likely to be viable and the 

loss of the agricultural farm use would not be harmful in economic terms. It may have 
been preferable for other uses, such as commercial takes place on site to retain 
employment opportunities etc. This has been considered by the applicant, with a 

commercial viability report submitted from Strakers which has considered the re-use 
of the site for different commercial uses.  The re-use of the site for Class E (light 

industrial), Class B2 (General Industrial) and Class B8 (Storage/Distribution) was 
considered, as well as a Class E office use for two smaller buildings on the site. 
Tourism use has also been considered in respect of the Coach House only.  

 
It has been considered in this assessment that due to the close nature of the site to 

residential properties, a Class B2 would normally be discounted but has been 
assessed. Community or Cultural uses have however been discounted due to the little 
return on investment and lack of demand for this use.  

 
The Assessment has been made noting the considerable work required to the majority 

of the buildings for any re-use. It is noted within the conclusion that “the demand for 

Page 92



commercial premises which are remote from a town’s employment pool is somewhat 
specialist and the infrequent nature of public transport facilities in the village might limit 

the market appeal of these buildings for certain uses. That said, currently there is a 
reasonably strong level of demand for light industrial workshops as well as B8 storage 

in villages such as Poulshot which benefit from having nearby access onto both the 
Class A and Class B road networks.” The assessment goes on to state that: 
 

- Conversion of four buildings for Class E Light Industrial use is not financially 
viable as would result in project losses from circa £64,682 to £173,102.  

- Conversion of three larger buildings for Class B2 General Industrial use is not 
financially viable is not financially viable as would result in project losses from 
£73,890 to £198,842.  

- Conversion of three larger building for Class B8 Storage/Distribution use is not 
financially viable as would result in project losses from circa £64,061 to 

£126,485. 
- Conversion of two smaller buildings for Class E Office use is not financially 

viable as would result in project losses from circa £66,148 and £84,437. 

- Conversion of the Coach House for tourism use would not be financially viable 
as would result in a project loss of £51,574.  

 
The assessment submitted by the applicant has not been highly scrutinised but 
provides a professional opinion that the site is not viable for re-uses for other 

commercial uses. Whilst it is acknowledged that some buildings would be able to 
converted successfully to a potential new use, overall the site has many buildings of 

disrepair which would not be possible for conversion without significant rebuild. The 
assessment submitted has appeared to focus on specific buildings and does not 
necessarily take into account that the conversion of a few buildings in the site would 

result in other buildings falling into further disrepair. It must also be noted that other 
uses have potential implications from vehicle movements and impacts upon 

neighbouring amenity.  
 
It is therefore considered that in this instance, it is not reasonable to object to the fact 

that the development would not retain some economic use on site footing as well there 
are no policies contained in the Core Strategy to give weight to the preferred uses 

(given the proposal is not being assessed under Core Policy 48 which for conversion 
and re-use of specific rural buildings there should be evidence that the preferred uses 
are not practical propositions). In any case, residential development schemes are 

considered to have some economic benefits to local areas, such as employment 
during the construction period, and occupants of the dwellings contributing and 

spending within the locality and its services and facilities which will be afforded some 
weight in the planning balance.  
 

Therefore, due to the conclusion of the submitted assessment that agricultural uses 
on the site are not viable, the loss of the agricultural use is deemed acceptable.  

 
Design and Visual Impact 
  

Core Policy 57 requires a ‘high standard of design’ for all new developments and to 
draw on the local context and be complementary to the locality. Core Policy 51 requires 

that development should protect, conserve and where possible enhance the 

Page 93



landscape character and must not have a harmful impact upon landscape character, 
while any negative impacts must be mitigated as far as possible through sensitive 

design and landscape measures. 
 

The proposed development comprises fourteen dwellings following the removal of the 
existing farmyard. Many of the buildings comprising the farmyard are redundant and 
are of a dilapidated state and thus their removal is considered acceptable, noting as 

well (as is further assessed in the heritage assets section below) that none of the 
buildings being removed are of any historic merit. The only building of any historic 

merit is the former Coach House (red brick single storey building) which fronts 
Poulshot Road. This building is proposed to be converted to residential use and 
extended at the rear.  

 
The site sits within the rolling clay lowland (11C) of the Wiltshire Landscape Character 

Assessment, noted for its ‘good’ condition, ‘moderate’ strength of character, and with 
a management strategy to conserve and strengthen. The site does not lie within any 
designated landscape although it does sit partially within (and within the setting of) the 

Poulshot Conservation Area.  
 

The Council’s Landscape Officer has reviewed the application and raised a holding 
objection to the scheme. It has been assessed that the site is an old farmstead 
consisting primarily of derelict non-descript farm buildings and would be largely 

removed to make way for a conventionally laid out small housing estate in a cul-de-
sac arrangement. There is no inherent landscape objection to the proposed 

conversion of a derelict farmstead to a new use by the Landscape Officer, as the 
landscape mitigation is well placed to reduce the visual impact of the scheme on the 
surrounding Public Right of Ways; also, the height and scale of development is similar 

to the existing.  The Landscape Officer has also commented that he would have 
preferred to have seen a layout that references the farmstead’s historic layout rather 

than a ‘standard’ housing layout.  
 
In this regard, it is agreed that significant harm would not result from the replacement 

of a derelict farmstead with a new use. A farmstead in this rural area is typical however 
given the poor state of the majority of the buildings and the redundant use as a dairy 

farm (and as per the viability report heavy substantial re-investment is required for 
other farming uses which is not considered viable), it is considered that the removal of 
the non-historic buildings would not result in landscape harm. The farm does not 

occupy an isolated location in comparison to the other buildings forming the built-up-
settlement of Townsend, noting for example that the existing built form does not extend 

further eastwards than the residential dwelling 186 Poulshot Road, nor does the 
complex extend further north-west than No. 22 Towsend. The existing farmstead 
appropriately ties in visually with the surrounding built form and thus the development 

would not be visually isolated from other residential development in the vicinity. 
 

The change of character from agricultural to residential must be acknowledged to 
cause a degree of harm to the rural character of the area. It is however considered 
that given the state of the buildings and land, the removal of the agricultural farmstead 

would have a neutral impact upon landscape character, noting in particular the high 
potential for the buildings to fall into further disrepair if not redeveloped, thus harming 

the landscape character further. The residential development of the site is not entirely 

Page 94



a welcome change of character however it is not considered to have a significant 
harmful impact upon landscape character, noting the siting as above, and that the 

buildings are primarily going to be positioned on the existing areas of built form on the 
farmstead.  

 
Referring back to the Landscape Officer’s comments, there is a holding objection on 
the basis of the layout, since it is felt that this should be more sensitive to the site’s 

historical and landscape character context, stating that “I would have preferred to have 
seen a layout that reference the farmsteads historical layout rather than creating a 

‘standard’ housing plot scheme”. In this respect, the proposed dwellings are to be sited 
mainly in the locations of the existing built form and is not spreading out development 
beyond the existing situation within the landscape. This can be demonstrated on plans 

such as the landscape mitigation and enhancement plan which has dotted lines 
showing the existing buildings on site that are to be removed.  

 
Whilst it can be argued that the layout and form is somewhat ‘standard’ in its approach 
and has a somewhat suburban character, it is not considered that this layout or design 

would give rise to any harmful impact upon landscape character. The main access 
and through road reflect the routes within the existing farmstead (laid to hardstanding) 

and whilst the buildings are not reflective of the existing locations and scales of the 
barns, this is not considered a harmful design in this instance. The northern boundary 
of the site would be soft landscaped with some land kept for agricultural use. The 

north-western side has a large area of open space and natural features which would 
mitigate some of the potential negative impact, as this part of the site would form an 

important and attractive ‘transition area’ between the built form and the open 
countryside, especially towards the Public Right of Way starting from Byde Mill Lane. 
The only dwelling which is not considered to overly reflect the layout of the existing 

farmstead is Plot 13, due to its southern orientation and only being partially located 
where the slurry pit is sited. The other buildings are considered to follow the historic 

layout of the farmstead to an appropriate degree (such as retaining the historic Coach 
House, the cluster of buildings to the ‘middle’ of the site, the linear form of development 
to the south-eastern part of the site and Plot 14 being in a similar location to an existing 

building.  As for Plot 13, it is understood that this is a ‘trade off’ through the removal of 
the more modern (and currently in use) barn to the immediate north -east of No. 22 

Townsend to enable the provision of the attractive transition area and swale. Plot 13 
would still be partially located on an area of built form, this being the slurry pit. As such, 
whilst the layout of Plot 13 would not reflect the historic layout of the farmstead, this is 

not considered to have such a harmful landscape impact as to justify an objection on 
this basis.  

 
The Landscape Officer also raised a holding objection on the basis that more evidence 
should be submitted to demonstrate that the public open space proposed meets the 

minimum policy requirement. In this regard, it is acknowledged that the Landscape 
Officer has raised concern with the lack of usable public open space for residents and 

this is agreed with to some extent. The space provided for open space has been 
outlined by the applicant to be well in excess of the required 137.76m2 stipulated by 
the Public Open Space Officer.  A play area(s) is not being proposed and instead will 

be covered by developer contributions. In any event, if the public open space were not 
agreed the principle of off-site contributions of £4,803.69 (for upgrading open space 

at facilities in vicinity of the development) was considered acceptable. Whilst concern 

Page 95



has been raised by the Landscape Officer in this regard, given that the Public Open 
Space Officer has raised no objection subject to the financial contributions and the 

open space is considered to result in an appropriate and attractive ‘transition area’ into 
the countryside and the right of way network, there is no objection in relation to design 

or visual impacts.  
 
Finally, the holding objection was on the basis of a Landscape and Ecology 

Management Plan (LEMP) being required that sets out how the mitigating landscaping 
will be maintained to maturity (especially in rear private garden plots). This 

management plan can be controlled by way of a planning condition. The proposed 
landscaping has not been objected to, rather concern has been raised about the 
maintenance and management over the longer term. The landscaping proposed is 

deemed appropriate to mitigate some of the landscape impacts and includes tree lined 
streets in accordance with Paragraph 136 of the NPPF (which states that decisions 

should ensure that new streets are tree-lined). Trees and hedgerow are proposed 
throughout and to the north of the site, the land would be managed as agricultural 
grassland/paddock to ensure there is an appropriate transition area to agricultural land 

with the water culvert. As the LEMP can be controlled by condition this objection is not 
warranted.  

 
The Council’s Urban Design Officer has also reviewed the submission and raised no 
objection, stating that the design would be appropriate and sensitive to its context and 

setting. It has been stated that “presumably the farming can be reasonably maintained 
without the need for these and subsequent replacement buildings on open land.” 

Specific comments have not been received about the need to replace any buildings 
on the site. Most of the buildings are in a redundant and dilapidated state and there 
are only a couple of barns in full use towards the north-western part of the site. It is 

noted that these barns would need to be re-located however as they are rented out 
(as confirmed by the applicant) it does not specifically mean that new agricultural barns 

would be required in the open landscape surrounding the application site. Any future 
application for barns would be considered on its own individual planning merits and 
this application and the wider farming practices around the site can reasonably be 

maintained without the replacement of those buildings.  
 

It is considered that the proposed layout and design of the scheme is acceptable. 
Although a change of character will cause a degree of harm, the built form would reflect 
the siting of the existing built up farmstead which is redundant and has the potential to 

fall into further disrepair to the detriment of the character and appearance of the area. 
The soft landscaping scheme is of high quality and appropriate to the context, with the 

plots to the edges of the site, in particular those facing the northern boundary, 
appropriately set within large plots; this is in-keeping with the character and pattern of 
development of the area. The soft landscaping to the frontage of the site is welcomed 

and would improve the views from Poulshot Road where it is currently laid fully to 
hardstanding which has a negative impact on the character and appearance of the 

area. It is noted that concerns have been raised by the public regarding the grass 
verge and the potential for illegal parking on it (this being harmful in visual terms). 
Bollards have been suggested however is not considered reasonable or necessary to 

control this; it would also have a potential harmful impact on the Conservation Area. It 
would be for the applicant and the occupants to maintain this grass verge and the 

grass verge, footway and bus stop would likely deter illegal parking. In relation to the 

Page 96



bus shelter, this is acceptable in principle and would be a welcome addition since I 
would ensure the provision of a formal bus stop for the area which currently does not 

exist.  However, no information has been submitted at present regarding its design. 
Whilst there may be specific highway authority requirements, it is considered 

reasonable that the elevation plans and details are controlled by way of condition  
rather than being provided upfront.  
 

Consideration is now afforded to the design of the dwellings themselves. As previously 
acknowledged, the design of the scheme is somewhat suburban in nature. It is 

however noted that the surrounding area has no prevailing character with residential 
dwellings of varying styles.  The proposed dwellings would have suburban estate 
features,but would not be our of keeping given this context. The amount of 

development would ensure an efficient use of the land without it appearing 
overdeveloped. The detailed design of the dwellings is high-quality with architectural 

features (such as cill heads) and materials which are reflective of those in the locality. 
Whilst it is acknowledged that concern has been raised by the public regarding the 
height of the dwellings, the scale of the dwellings, whilst tall at circa 8 metres to the 

ridge, are not considered excessive in this location. In fact, their height would not be 
too dissimilar to the tallest barns already on site so this argument would be difficult to 

sustain. Although the built form and height at the front of the site would be more 
prominent in views from Poulshot Road, since the existing situation comprises single 
storey agricultural buildings mainly fronting this highway, it is not considered to be 

visually harmful.  
 

Regarding the proposed materials, these are acceptable in principle however the final 
details of the material and finishes would need to be the subject of a condition (noting 
for example that the submitted plans do outline ‘suggested’ materials). The principle 

of the materials outlined within the ‘Proposal description’ section of this report are 
appropriate to the site’s context and the mix would add visual interest to the scheme. 

Conditions are also recommended requiring further details of boundary treatments, 
surfacing and external lighting, in the interests of visual amenity.  
 

With the conditions outlined above imposed, the proposal development is considered, 
on balance, to be appropriate to the location and would not give rise to any significant 

harmful landscape and/or visual impacts. The proposal would have the visual benefit 
of re-developing a redundant farmstead which has the potential to fall into further 
disrepair to the detriment to the appearance of the area. Whilst there would be a 

degree of  impact from the change of character and loss of the agricultural use, the 
negative impacts have been mitigated as far as possible through sensitive design and 

landscape measures (criteria of Core Policy 51). The proposed dwellings would mainly 
follow the layout and siting of existing built form of the farmstead, would be high -quality 
in design dwellings and would have appropriate levels of landscaping and proposes a 

sensitive ‘transition area’ into the open landscape. The proposal is therefore 
considered to accord with the main aims of Core Policies 51 and 57 of the Core 

Strategy.  
 
 

 
 

 

Page 97



Sustainable Construction 
 

Core Policy 41 seeks to help to reduce Wiltshire’s contribution to climate change 
through improved design and construction methods. The Climate Change Team has 

reviewed the submitted Sustainable Energy Statement and Waste Audit.  The Climage 
Change Officer has endorsed the comments made within the supporting documents 
submitted with the application and has made some constructive comments. It is 

however outlined that that they “consider that in sustainable construction terms this 
scheme is clearly exceeding policy requirements.”  

 
The Climate Officer has commented that, in relation to sustainable transport, it must 
be acknowledged that this is a site where there would be a reliance on the private 

vehicle. It is considered that more could be demonstrated by the applicant around 
journey avoidance, which in a location like this, would be to ensure mobile and internet 

are as good as possible and, where there are limitations, seek to address this. It is 
however acknowledged that the proposal is providing a betterment over the existing 
situation in terms of walking, cycling and public transport infrastructure; there is also a 

commitment to providing electric vehicle charging points for every dwelling. It has been 
recommended under the sustainable transport section that any final Sustainable 

Energy Strategy (secured by condition) should address the opportunities to avoid 
journeys through enhanced telecommunications and appropriate space to work from 
home in each dwelling.  

 
Under the ‘operational energy / carbon’ section of the Climate Officer comments, it has 

been acknowledged that the proposal at this stage can only give an indication because 
Technical Design will only occur post the grant of planning approval. There is however 
a clear strategy and commitment to a definition of net zero in operation. It has been 

noted that the method used is only looking at regulated energy and there is not an 
allowance being made for unregulated energy. Nonetheless, the calculations show 

that these units will be far in excess of building regulations requirements or indeed 
emerging Future Homes Standards.  It has been recommended under this section that 
any final Sustainable Energy Strategy (secured by condition) should seek to 

demonstrate that every dwelling will be net zero in operation (including regulated and 
an allowance for unregulated energy) per annum. 

 
Regarding embodied carbon, the submitted Waste Audit has been outlined to start to 
set out an approach for how the existing built form would be removed and the site 

made good as part of the scheme. More information has been requested and ideally 
set out as an Embodied Carbon Assessment. It has been recommended by the 

Climate Officer that any final Sustainable Energy Strategy (secured by condition) 
should seek to provide an embodied carbon metric for the development and target in 
line with ambitious industry standards.  

 
The ‘Climate change adaptation’ part of the comments has the Climate Officer 

acknowledge that the proposal sets out the removal of significant area of hard 
standards such as to improve water infiltration, drainage solutions to reduce flood risk 
and water efficiency measures such as to reduce demand. The commitment to 110 

l/p/d has been recommended to be secured by condition such as to allow it to be 
secured through Part G of the building regulations.  

 

Page 98



The Climate Officer within the summary and conclusion section of their comments, 
outlines that the proposal clearly sets out sustainable construction measures that 

exceed current policy requirements and leave plenty of scope for optimising once 
Technical Guidance work is undertaken post planning. The developed has been 

considered to sought to mitigate the locational issues and climate impacts as far as 
practically possible and has designed a layout and building form that provides 
opportunity to have building integrated renewable energy generation that will go some 

way to ensuring that the scheme is in net zero operation. The scheme is also providing 
climate change adaptation betterments. As such no objection was raised subject to a 

number of conditions.  
 
In this regard, the suggested conditions are considered to go beyond what is 

reasonable and necessary for this development (in particular the scale of such as 
development and the betterments proposed). Whilst a ‘final’ Sustainable Energy 

Strategy is sought from the Climate Change Officer they have been clear throughout 
the comments that the submitted documents already go beyond the policy 
requirements and are welcomed. The additional information sought such as relating 

to embodied carbon, improved telecommunication opportunities and assessment 
against unregulated energy would be welcomed however as the submitted statements 

already go beyond what is necessary to make the development acceptable in this 
regard it is not considered that these conditions would meet the tests of imposing 
conditions outlined within the NPPF. A condition will however be imposed that the 

submitted documents are adhered to.  
 

It is however considered reasonable that condition is imposed relating to the details 
and provision of the air source heat pumps. Whilst the locations are known as are 
present on plan reference 21146.141-B, the details and scale are not currently known 

which has potential to impact amenity (noting they are not present on the elevation 
plans).  

 
Regarding the requested solar panels condition, the solar panels are clearly 
demonstrated on the proposed plans and thus details such as location and dimensions 

are not considered required under a condition  (though appearance details and their 
fixings will be controlled), nor is the condition requiring details and locations of EV 

charging points is reasonable, noting we have a plan (21146.141-B) demonstrating 
the locations already which will be an approved plan . Finally the recommended 
conditions regarding the water consumption limited to 110 litres per person per day is 

considered unnecessary as is controlled under building regulations.   
 

As such, subject to the conditions outlined above the proposal is acceptable and would 
accord with Core Policy 41 of the Core Strategy. The commitment to reducing carbon 
emissions over and above baseline requirements is afforded positive weight in the 

planning balance.  
  

Impact on Heritage Assets 
 

− Conservation Area and setting of Listed Buildings 

 
The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 provides powers for 

the designation, protection and enhancement of conservation areas and the 

Page 99



preservation of Listed Buildings. The Act requires that special regard should be given 
to the desirability of preserving a Listed Building or its setting (Section 16 and Section 

66) as well as giving special attention to preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of the Conservation Area (Section 72). Paragraph 203 of the NPPF 

requires Local Planning Authorities to take account of the desirability of sustaining and 
enhancing the significance of heritage assets and of new development making a 
positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness.  

 
Core Policy 57 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy requires, amongst other things, that new 

development must be sympathetic to and conserve historic buildings. Core Policy 58 
requires that development should protect, conserve and where possible enhance the 
historic environment.  

 
Paragraph 200 of the NPPF requires that applicants describe the significance of any 

heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their setting. This should 
include sufficient information to provide a clear understanding of the significance of 
the heritage asset and its setting and the potential impact of any proposals on that 

significance. In this case, the application is accompanied by a “Heritage Impact 
Statement” which provides sufficient information to understand the impact of the 

proposals and is proportionate to the scope. The requirements of the NPPF are 
therefore met in this respect. 
 

The application site lies partially within the Poulshot Conservation Area, with the 
remainder of the site considered to lie within the immediate setting of this heritage 

designation. A small number of Listed Buildings are present in the immediate locality 
and the proposal would fall within the setting of the Grade II Townsend Farmhouse to 
the south of the site. The Conservation Officer has reviewed the submission and also 

acknowledged the presence of the nearby Grade II* St Peter’s Church as well as other 
Listed Buildings in the wider locality, however, it has been assessed that the farmyard 

plays no role in the setting of these buildings. The separation distance and intervening 
buildings/vegetation and landform all dictate that the farmyard is out of view at ground 
level. Furthermore, there is no other positive connection with the site.  

 
The Council’s Conservation Officer has assessed that the farm buildings on the north- 

east side of the road are all of modern construction, with no buildings shown there on 
the Tithe Map of 1840. A frontage structure, opposite Townsend Farmhouse, is shown 
on the First Edition O.S map of c. 1880. This structure is substantially unaltered and 

is a small, single storey, coach house with adjacent provision for the stabling of horses. 
A second, open-fronted, structure was shown running parallel deeper within the plot 

on historic evidence however there is no trace of this structure to be found today.  
 
The Conservation Officer considers that the only positive feature on site is th is former 

coach house. This building is also defined as a ‘Significant unlisted building’ within the 
Poulshot Conservation Area. The removal of the other farmyard is no objected to, 

noting the unattractive series of industrial-type farm structures and surrounding hard 
surfacing. In assessing the proposed residential development, the Conservation 
Officer has raised no objection subject to conditions.  

 
The conversion of the coach house is welcomed and a structural report has been 

submitted which concludes that it is capable of conversion to residential. The retention 

Page 100



and re-purposing of this building is considered to help incorporate the new scheme 
into the local environment. The views of the Conservation Officer are agreed with; the 

conversion of the previous coach house would result in the only historic building of any 
merit being retained on site, with a new purpose to prevent further disrepair of the 

building. Whilst (as assessed above in the principle section) it is not considered to 
accord with Core Policy 48 due to the large rear extension proposed, this extension is 
considered not to give rise to any harm to heritage assets as it would be a rear 

extension within a new built residential estate with an appropriate rear garden etc. The 
extension is deemed appropriately sensitive to the conversion part at the front (the 

most visible part from the Conservation Area) and therefore this extension would not 
harm the character and appearance of the Conservation Area since the historic 
frontage would be appropriately retained in terms of its character and appearance.  

 
It is acknowledged that the Conservation Officer has requested a condition that 

occupation of the new build units are restricted until the works to the Coach House 
have been substantially completed to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 
However, this condition is not considered to meet the tests of imposing conditions so 

is not reasonable in this instance. Whilst it is understood that there is a desire to ensure 
that the conversion works are completed, it should not prevent the occupation of other 

buildings on site when constructed. A condition requiring a repair specification and 
method statement for the conversion works was also recommended specifically 
relating to the Coach House. This condition is considered necessary and reasonable 

to ensure that the works undertaken are fully understood and controlled as a historic 
(significantly unlisted building) within the Conservation Area.  

 
In relation to the new dwellings on site following the removal of the agricultural 
buildings (of modern construction), the Conservation Officer has acknowledged that 

the design of the scheme is producing an ‘honest’ scheme that would complement the 
adjacent Conservation Area rather than trying to mimic agricultural barns. It has been 

particularly noted that the main roofs and front elevations of Plots 2 and 14 would run 
parallel to Poulshot Road and would generally respect the established pattern of 
development along this road. The interface of the development with the road is 

considered to be respectful to the rural character, with a grass verge, and use of block 
paving for harder surfaces. The palette of clay tiles and Welsh states for the roofing 

has been deemed to be in harmony with the established vernacular. The use of  
red/brown brickwork, textured render and feather edged boarding for walling was also 
considered to strengthen the sense of place, whilst the introduction of woven hazel 

fences and boundary hedges would help assimilate the development into its rural 
setting. The provision of solar panels on south and west facing roof slopes has been 

considered acceptable subject to black PVs are used.  
 
Therefore, the Council’s Conservation Officer has raised no objection, considering the 

proposal is sensitive to the rural character and the appearance of the Conservation 
Area. It was concluded that “the impact on the significance of the coach house, and 

the Poulshot Conservation Area, and the setting of Townsend Farmhouse will be 
neutral or slightly positive. The proposal are therefore justified in terms of conserving 
the designated heritage assets.” This view is agreed with, noting as well that whilst 

there would be a change of character of the site in this instance, there is a positive 
from the redevelopment of a primarily redundant farmyard which has potential to fall 

into further disrepair and except from the Coach House (which is being converted in 

Page 101



any instance) the buildings are not of any historic merit. No harm is therefore 
considered to be generated towards the heritage assets from the proposal 

development.  
 

The Conservation Officer has recommended a number of conditions, which are 
considered reasonable and necessary however these relate to design and visual 
amenity matters as well as on heritage grounds. Conditions relating to material details, 

joinery details, rooflights being Conservation style, details of the PVs and their fittings, 
boundary treatments plan, public realm surfaces plan, details of any external lighting 

(including street lighting) are recommended.  
 
It is therefore considered, having regard to the points made above, that due regard 

has been given to the statutory duties set out within Sections 66 and 72 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, as well as the 

requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (2023) and Policies 57 and 
58 of the Core Strategy. 
 

− Archaeology  
 

Wiltshire Council’s Archaeology Officer has reviewed the submission and although it 
was noted that the site is partially located within the deserted medieval settlement 
located at Townsend, the footprint of the proposed dwellings has been heavily 

impacted by past modern development within the current farm. As such it has been 
considered that it would be highly unlikely for groundworks to expose any as-yet 

unrecorded sub-surface archaeological features/deposits and no archaeological 
issues are raised (nor any conditions or informatives recommended). The proposal is 
therefore acceptable in this regard.  

 
Residential Amenity and Pollution 

  
Core Policy 57 criterion vii) outlines that there needs to have regard to the compatibility 
of adjoining buildings and uses, including the levels of amenity of existing occupants. 

  

− Amenity of future occupants 

  
The proposed internal layout the proposed dwellings would allow adequate light to 

allow habitable rooms and the dwellings are of scales which are in accordance with 
the nationally described space standards.  
 

The amount of amenity space would be sufficient for the enjoyment of the future 
occupants and would be in accordance with the Wiltshire Design Guide. The 
expectation under this guidance is that the minimum rear garden areas ‘equal footprint 

of dwelling’ and that the minimum length of garden for two storey dwellings (which all 
but the formal coach house is) would be 12 metre if north facing or 10 metre otherwise.  

 
In this respect, all dwellings accord with this guidance. The only garden which is fully 
north facing is ‘Plot 13’ which is large in scale with a minimum depth of circa 16 metres. 

There are a few dwellings with less than 12 metres gardens however, given that they 
are not fully north facing and have a depth of more than 10 metres the amenity space 

Page 102



proposed is acceptable. For example, ‘Plot 14’ has a rear garden depth of 11 metres, 
and ‘Plot 12’ has a depth of circa 11.5 metres.  

 
Regarding the potential impact on the amenities of the future occupants, the 

arrangement of the dwellings is acceptable since it would not give rise to any 
unacceptable impact upon amenity. Regarding loss of outlook and overbearing effect, 
the proposed dwellings are appropriately spaced so as to not give rise to unacceptable 

effects to the private rear amenity spaces. Whilst the dwellings are acceptable, it is 
acknowledged that the garages for ‘Plot 10’ and ‘Plot 13’ would be in close proximity 

to the shared boundaries with ‘Plot 12’ and ‘Plot 11’ respectively. In relation to ‘Plot 
10’s garage, due to the single storey design and slight set back from the shared 
boundary through hedge planting it is not considered that this arrangement would give 

rise to any undue harm. Whilst would result in some overshadowing as a result of the 
single storey nature of this build and the limited part of the day the overshadowing 

would occur this is acceptable on balance.  
 
In relation to ‘Plot 13’s garage, this is proposed to be a large 6m in height one a half 

storey structure. It is considered that the height and resultant bulk would be 
undesirable for the future occupants of Plot 12 however given the siting whereby it 

would not be immediately against the more protected private patio area and the open 
space to the east and west, this arrangement is not deemed of such unacceptable 
harm to warrant an objection. Furthermore, this large garage would not result in any 

unacceptable overshadowing or loss of light due to its northern siting. The garages, 
whilst undesirable is not therefore deemed unacceptable.  

 
Consideration is now afforded towards the potential for adverse overlooking and loss 
of privacy from the new dwellings towards another. The plots are assessed as follows 

(which does not include the acceptable typical oblique views between adjacent 
properties):  

 

• Plot 1 – Due to the single storey nature and intervening boundary treatment 
there would be no adverse overlooking.  

• Plot 2 – First floor windows present on all three elevations. Due to the 
intervening distances to properties there would be no adverse overlooking.  

• Plot 3 – First floor windows on the front and rear elevations with none proposed 
on the side elevation fronting Plot 4. The intervening distances from the first 

floor windows would not result in any adverse overlooking.  

• Plot 4 - First floor windows on the front and rear elevations with none proposed 
on the side elevation fronting Plot 3. The intervening distances from the first 

floor windows would not result in any adverse overlooking. 

• Plot 5 – First floor windows on the front and rear elevations with none proposed 

on the side elevation fronting the cul-de-sac highway. The intervening distances 
from the first floor windows would not result in any adverse overlooking. 

• Plot 6 – First floor windows proposed on the front, rear and side (south -west) 
elevation. The front and rear elevations, by reason of the intervening distances 
to the properties would not result in any adverse overlooking. On the side 

(south-western) elevation, one first floor window is proposed as a secondary 
window for ‘bedroom 1’. In this regard, this window would have direct views 

over the parking area for its plot and the parking area for Plot 1. Whilst there 
would be some views towards the amenity area of Plot 1, it would be slightly 

Page 103



oblique and in excess of 24 metres away and therefore is not considered a 
harmful arrangement. It is not considered reasonable to control this window to 

be obscure glazed etc.  

• Plot 7 – First floor windows are proposed on all elevations. In relation to the 

front and rear elevations, given the intervening distances and orientation there 
would be no adverse overlooking from these windows (noting the first-floor 
windows are in excess of 24 metres towards Plot 11). In relation to the south- 

western elevation the first floor windows are proposed as secondary windows 
for ‘bedroom 3’ and ‘bedroom ‘4’. In this regard the intervening distance to Plot 

6 and its private amenity space would be circa 6 metres. Due to this distance 
and arrangement, it is considered that the first-floor windows would give rise to 
unacceptable overlooking and loss of privacy. It is therefore considered 

reasonable and necessary that these windows (which are only secondary 
windows and thus the main light and outlook would be afforded from the 

windows on the rear and front elevation) would be obscure glazed and non-
opening unless the parts that can be opened are more than 1.7 metres above 
the floor of the room in which the window is installed. In relation to the north- 

eastern side windows, these would serve bathrooms. These openings would 
be 7 metres from the shared boundary with Plot 8 and therefore it is also 

necessary to control these windows to be obscure glazed etc. to prevent 
adverse overlooking and loss of privacy to Plot 8.  

• Plot 8 – First floor windows are proposed on all elevations. In relation to the 

front and rear elevations, given the intervening distances there would be no 
adverse overlooking from these windows (noting the first-floor windows is circa 

24 metres towards front elevation of Plot 10). In relation to the north-eastern 
elevation the first floor windows are proposed as secondary windows for 

‘bedroom 3’ and ‘bedroom ‘4’. In this regard the intervening distance to Plot 9 
would be circa 5 metres. Whilst the views would not be directly on ly the private 
amenity space immediately to the rear of the dwelling it would have large views 

over a large portion of the proposed garden for Plot 9. Due to this distance and 
arrangement, it is considered that the first-floor windows would give rise to 

unacceptable overlooking and loss of privacy. It is therefore considered 
reasonable and necessary that these windows (which are only secondary 
windows and thus the main light and outlook would be afforded from the 

windows on the rear and front elevation) wou ld be obscure glazed. In relation 
to the south-western side windows, these would serve bathrooms. These 

openings would be circa 7.5 metres from the shared boundary with Plot 7 and 
therefore it is also necessary to control these windows to be obscure glazed 
etc. to prevent adverse overlooking and loss of privacy to Plot 7.   

• Plot 9 – First floor windows are proposed on all elevations. Due to the 
intervening distances and orientation it is not considered there would be any 

adverse overlooking or loss of privacy. Whilst noted there would be some direct 
views towards Plot 10, there would be an intervening distance of circa 12 
metres to the shared boundary and would be directed towards the public open 

front area of the dwelling and not the private rear amenity space and is therefore 
acceptable. In relation to the garage, this is a one and a half storey structure 

and thus has first floor openings. Rooflights are proposed on the rear (north- 
west) elevation which is acceptable with no direct views to neighbouring 
properties. A first-floor window is proposed on the south west elevation which 

would have direct views towards Plot 10. This window would be circa 5 metres 

Page 104



from the boundary and would have good views towards the private rear patio 
area. As such it is considered necessary and reasonable that this is controlled 

to be obscure glazed etc. noting that the roof lights would serve adequate light 
and outlook to the first-floor space. 

• Plot 10 - First floor windows are proposed on all elevations. Due to the 
intervening distances and orientation there would be no adverse overlooking 
from the front and rear elevations. In relation to the north-eastern elevation, the 

first floor window would serve as a secondary window for ‘bedroom 1’ and 
would be 12 metres from the boundary. In this respect, given this intervening 

distance and noting the views would be towards the garage and not the private 
amenity area, it is not considered that this window would give rise to such 
unacceptable overlooking as to justify a condition controlling it to be obscure 

glazed etc. In comparison, the first-floor windows to the south west are 
proposed to serve bathrooms and would be circa 3 metres to the boundary. It 

is deemed necessary that these windows are controlled to be obscure glazed 
etc. to prevent adverse overlooking and loss of privacy toward Plot 11 in 
particular.  

• Plot 11 and 12 – First floor windows are proposed on the front and rear 
elevations. The front windows would not directly view any private amenity areas 

and is acceptable. In relation to the rear elevation windows, it is considered that 
this arrangement is not desirable however is not of such undue harm in terms 

of overlooking or loss of privacy as to justify a refusal. The first-floor windows 
for these properties would be circa 12 metres to the shared boundary (taken 
from the middle of the boundary hedging). As outlined within the Wiltshire 

Design Guidance ‘traditional ‘back-to-back’ separation of minimum 20m should 
be respected’. In this regard it is not a back-to-back arrangement but a side to 

back arrangement which is not specifically defined in the guidance. There would 
be some overlooking from the rear elevation windows to Plot 10 (including the 
dwelling and its private amenity space) however given it is in excess of 10 

metres, the size of the plot of 10 which allows occupants to use parts of the site 
which would be much further away from the shared boundary (including the 

patio area which is proposed on the north eastern side of the dwelling) and the 
use of the rooms to the rear of these plots comprise a hallway, study and 
bathroom, this overlooking and loss of privacy is not considered unacceptable 

on balance.  

• Plot 13 - First floor windows are proposed on all elevations. The front (south), 

rear (north) and side (west) would by reason of its orientation and intervening 
distances would not result in any adverse overlooking or loss of privacy. In 
relation to the side (east) elevation, this would have two first floor windows 

serving a bathroom and a secondary window for ‘bedroom 1’. In this regard the 
direct distance towards Plot 10 shared boundary is circa 13 metres. Whilst it is 

acknowledged that some of the bathroom window may be blocked by the 
proposed garage, given the direct outlook towards the large rear portion of Plot 
10s garden, it is considered reasonable that these windows are controlled by 

condition to be obscure glazed etc.  

• Plot 14 – First floor windows are proposed on the front, rear and north -western 

side of the property. Due to the intervening distance, orientation and noting 
there are no first floor windows proposed on the south eastern side of the 
dwelling there would be no adverse impacts in terms of overlooking or loss of 

privacy to the amenity of the future occupants of the other proposed dwellings. 

Page 105



It is acknowledged that the windows on the other side (north-western) would 
impact the existing residential property of 22 Townsend however, this will be 

considered in the below section.  
 

As such, with the conditions controlling the identified windows to be obscure glazed 
and non-opening unless the parts that can be opened are more than 1.7 metres above 
the floor of the room in which the window is installed, the proposed arrangement and 

design of the scheme is acceptable in terms of its amenity to the future occupants.  
  

- Amenity of existing residential properties 
  
Attention is now afforded towards the neighbouring amenities of the existing properties 

in the locality. Firstly consideration is made towards 22 Townsend which would be 
immediately bordering the site and the new neighbouring dwelling would be ‘Plot 14’. 

In this respect, whilst the dwelling would be sited close to the boundary, by reason of 
the space around No. 22 and the slight off set from the boundary the proposed dwelling 
of Plot 14 would not result in any significantly adverse overbearing effect, loss of 

outlook, overshadowing or loss of light. The area adjacent to the proposed dwelling is 
the parking area for No. 22 as opposed to the private rear amenity space. In relation 

to overlooking and loss of privacy, ‘Plot 14’ is proposed to have a first-floor window on 
the north-western elevation directly facing this neighbouring property. This window is 
proposed to be a secondary window for ‘bedroom 1’ and therefore given that this is 

not a primary window for outlook, and the close arrangement to this neighbouring 
property it is deemed necessary and reasonable to control this window to be obscure 

glazed and non-opening unless the parts that can be opened are more than 1.7 metres 
above the floor of the room in which the window is installed. Regarding the proposed 
garage for Plot 14, given the single storey nature and siting away from the shared 

boundary of No. 22 this element is not deemed to give rise to any overbearing effect, 
loss of outlook, overshadowing or overlooking. As such, subject to the condition 

controlling the first-floor window on the north-western elevation the development is 
considered acceptable in terms of its impact upon 22 Townsend.  
 

Regarding the properties fronting Poulshot Road, by reason of the intervening 
distances, over the public highway there is no unacceptable impacts in terms of 

overbearing effect, loss of outlook or overshadowing. Whilst there would be new 
outlook from windows to these neighbouring dwellings, given the intervening distances 
such as 18 metres from Plot 2 to the nearest building opposite or 21 metres from Plot 

1 to the nearest property of Townsend Farmhouse, there would not be any 
unacceptable overlooking or loss of privacy as to warrant an objection. The proposal 

is therefore acceptable in terms of its impacts from the built form towards these 
properties to the south-west of Poulshot Road.  
 

Consideration is now being afforded towards ‘Bear Cottage (4 Townsend) which sited 
to the south of the development, adjacent to ‘Plot 1’. In this regard, the dwellings of 

Plot 1 and Plot 6 are of sufficient distance away not to give rise to any unacceptable 
overbearing effect or loss of outlook, noting that Plot 6 dwelling is 10.5 metres away 
from the shared boundary and Plot 1 is a single storey property and is 6 metres from 

the shared boundary. Regarding overlooking, Plot 1 would be single storey and given 
the distance and boundary treatment it is acceptable in this regard. Plot 6 would have 

no direct views towards the private rear amenity area of Bear Cottage and given the 

Page 106



intervening distance to the shared boundary is not considered to give rise to any 
unacceptable loss of privacy. There would be single storey garages close to the 

shared boundary with this neighbouring dwelling (circa 4 metres from the boundary) 
however given the single storey nature and roof form which slopes towards the 

boundary, there would be no adverse overbearing effect, loss of outlook, 
overshadowing or loss of privacy.  
 

In relation to White Bungalow (2 Townsend) to the south of the application site. By 
reason of the intervening distance, whereby there is no shared boundary with the 

application site, the proposal would not result in any unacceptable impacts upon 
neighbouring amenities.  
 

Finally, consideration is afforded towards Wilkins Cottage (192 Poulshot Road), 190 
Poulshot Road, Lynton (188 Poulshot Road) and Apeldorn (186 Poulshot Road). 

These dwellings are sited to the south- east of the application site with their rear 
amenity spaces backing onto the application site. In this respect, by reason of the 
distances between the existing residential dwellings and the proposed new dwellings 

under this scheme, it is not considered that there would be any harm generated in 
terms of overbearing effect, loss of outlook, overshadowing or loss of light. Whilst there 

would be some intervisibility, given the intervening distances (a minimum of 21 metres 
to the shared boundary) and the fact that this arrangement is way beyond the expected 
minimum back-to-back distances of 20 metres under the Wiltshire Design Guidance, 

there would be no unacceptable overlooking or loss of privacy to justify any objection.  
 

It is therefore considered that the proposed development, in terms of the built form, is 
acceptable and would not give rise to any unacceptable impacts upon residential 
amenity subject to the conditions regarding windows identified above. In terms of  the 

construction phase, it is deemed reasonable and necessary to control the construction 
phase by way of a Construction Management Plan to ensure that impacts upon 

neighbouring properties is limited such as in terms of hours of construction, dust and 
noise. In relation to noise and dust the Public Protection Officer raised no objection 
subject to a Construction and Environmental Management Plan, as well as conditions 

that no burning on site shall occur at any time, and that construction and demolition 
hours shall be limited to 0800 to 1800 Monday to Friday, 0800 to 1300 hours Saturday 

and no working on Sundays or Bank Holidays. These conditions are deemed 
reasonable in the interest of amenity of the area during the construction works.  
 

Contaminated Land 
 

The Council’s Public Protection Officer has reviewed the submission whereby a 
Preliminary Contaminated Land risk assessment was submitted to support the 
application. Section 6.4 of this risk assessment recommends further work and the 

Public Protection Officer supports these views and therefore request a planning 
condition that no development shall commence on site until further investigation work 

is undertaken and submitted to the Local Planning Authority to approve. With this 
planning condition, the proposed development is considered acceptable in terms of 
contaminated land, noting for example that the condition wording includes a 

requirement for remedial works if contaminated land is found.  
 

 

Page 107



Access, Movement and Parking Provision 
 

-      Locational sustainability 
  

Core Policy 60 and 61 aim to direct development to accessible locations where it is 
‘located and designed to reduce the need to travel particularly by private car, and to 
encourage the use of sustainable transport alternatives’. 

 
Core Policies 1 and 2 of the Core Strategy identifies areas of where sustainable 

development will take place to improve the lives of all those who live and work in 
Wiltshire. This approach is to provide the sustainable development, in particular due 
to the intention to reduce the need to travel (an approach agreed by Planning 

Inspectors such as within APP/Y3940/W/21/3280947). 
 

The application site is located outside of the built-up form of the settlement of Poulshot 
which is defined as a ‘small village’ under the Melksham Community Area as set out 
within Core Policy 14 of the WCS. Core Policy 1 identifies that small villages ‘have a 

low level of services and facilities, and few employment opportunities’. In particular for 
Poulshot there is a limited number of facilities available such as a Village Hall, public 

house, hairdresser, bus stops. Although there a number of services and facilities which 
could be used by future occupants and could be accessed by foot given the proposed 
provision of a footpath to connect to existing footpaths, given the intervening distance 

of in excess of 1200m (in excess of 10 minute walk away) from the majority of the 
facilities this distance is not considered to deter any future occupants from using the 

private vehicle. Furthermore it must be acknowledged that Poulshot Road is unlit so 
would further prevent some use by any occupants. The only walkable facilities would 
be the nursery opposite the site and St Peter’s Church.  

 
Whilst a Right of Way network is available to the occupants, due to the nature of the 

routes, such as the terrain and ground conditions, this could mainly be used for 
recreational means and not daily needs of the occupants. Finally it must be noted that 
whilst some services and facilities are present in the area, they do not have all services 

and facilities for daily needs such as schools or shops.   
 

It is acknowledged that cycling is a possibility to some local services and facilities. 
Some small settlements such as Poulshot lie within 5km of the application site 
however the main town of Devizes is outside of this area. Access from cycling to 

nearby settlements would however be on rural road with no street lighting with some 
national speed limits roads, which would prevent all but the experienced cyclists, and 

thus would not deter users from using the private vehicle.  
 
The additional footpath provisions and re-location of the bus stop is noted as part of 

the submission. The footpath that would link to existing footpaths along Poulshot Road 
is welcomed however would still not prevent the use of the private vehicle due to the 

long distances to any services and facilities in Poulshot itself. Regarding the bus stop, 
it is questioned if this bus route would allow occupants to travel to other settlements in 
a way that would be desirable for occupants. For example it appears that Route 76 of 

Faresaver allows a stop at Mill Lane (the bus stop in question) however would only be 
collected circa 12:20 or 14:20 heading to Trowbridge (via other settlements on 

weekdays) and circa 10:30 and 13:10 heading to Devizes (weekdays). Which would 

Page 108



not allow any occupants to use this for a typical workday due to the timings, as an 
example.  

 
It is considered however that the re-location would represent a highway safety benefit 

as there is limited space around the bus stop location at present and it is situated near 
a highway bend. It would also formalise an unmarked stop for school children as this 
area is a stop for a Council funded bus route to Devizes Secondary School. The new 

bus stop location would aid highway and pedestrian safety and would improve the 
appearance of the bus stop for users (with the provision of a bus shelter for example) 

however given that this is just a re-location and formalisation of an existing bus stop, 
which would have still been otherwise available for the future occupants as it within 
walking distance (circa 120 metres to the application site) this re-location is not 

considered to give weight to the locational sustainability argument. Albeit the provision 
of this bus stop could potentially allow occupants to travel within the wider area is 

acknowledged however, as mentioned above, due to the limited service it is not 
considered a sustainable route to deter occupants from using the private vehicle for 
daily needs.  

 
The proposal is not in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2 and given there is a lack 

of all the facilities and services required for day-to-day living in Townsend/Poulshot, 
there would be a reliance on the private vehicle. As there would be a reliance of the 
private car, the proposal is considered to be contrary to Core Policy 60 and 61 and 

guidance contained within the NPPF which seeks that development should be moving 
to a low carbon economy (Paragraph 8 of the NPPF). 

  
-      Access and Parking 
 

Core Policy 61 requires proposals to demonstrate that the proposal is capable of being 
served by safe access to the highway network and states in the supporting text that 

transport impacts of new developments need to be assessed and connections to the 
highway should be safe for all road users. 
 

The existing site comprises a farmyard which has potential for large amounts of 
comings and goings, including from large agricultural vehicles. There are currently two 

‘access’ points into the site from Poulshot Road (albeit it one allows access into the 
yard itself and the other to a small hardstanding area between buildings) however it 
must be acknowledged that there is informal hardstanding and access on basically the 

whole frontage of the site which gives an ‘open’ highway access appearance and this 
hardstanding has been used for parking means and access etc. Another existing 

access to the site is accessed from Byde Mill Lane (to the northwest).  
 
The proposal seeks to provide one formal vehicular access into the site for the 

proposed residential dwellings from Poulshot Road moving then into a residential cul-
de-sac layout. The existing access that connects to Byde Mill Lane would be retained 

however would be solely used as an agricultural access post-construction. It should 
be noted that this access from Byde Mill Lane would not be available to the residential 
area itself due to the green space and pedestrian path proposed. The retention of the 

agricultural access onto Byde Mill Lane is acceptable on highway safety grounds as 
an existing situation and would allow access to the agricultural fields etc. to the north 

of the application site to be worked on.  

Page 109



 
The provision of a shared used path which would connect the development to Byde 

Mill Lane is also considered a highway improvement by the Highway Officer. In 
particular this path would ensure that the occupants (and other walkers in the locality) 

could go through the application site using footways to the Public Right of Way byway 
POUL3 and thus would allow walkers to stop using Byde Mill Lane and its highway 
junction with Poulshot Road which poses a highway safety risk due to the lack of 

footpaths along the junction area and the highway bend itself with no crossing point.  
 

The Council’s Highway Officer has reviewed the submission and raised no technical 
objection to the vehicular access proposed and the visibility splay provided. The 
Transport Statement contents have been reviewed and no objection is raised. Whilst 

the Highway Officer has acknowledged there would be a recognisable increase in car 
movements as a result of the development, it has been considered that it would not 

likely lead to a significant negative/unacceptable impact on the wider highway network 
and is acceptable.  
 

Nor has any objection been raised in relation to the internal layout or amount of parking 
and cycle provision proposed. It is considered that the proposal would provide 

acceptable parking provision in line with Wiltshire Local Transport Plan 2011 – 2026 
– Car Parking Strategy (March 2011). The following are proposed for this 
development: 

 

• Plot 1– Three bedroomed property – Double garage with hardstanding outside 

which could provide parking for an additional two vehicles.  

• Plot 2 – Three bedroomed property – Two parking spaces provided to front of 

site (tandem parking).  

• Plot 3 – Two bedroomed property – Two parking spaces provided to front of 
site (tandem parking).  

• Plot 4 – Two bedroomed property – Two parking spaces provided to front of 
site (tandem parking). 

• Plot 5 – Three bedroomed property – Two parking spaces provided to side of 
site. 

• Plot 6 – Three bedroomed property – Double garage with hardstanding outside 
which could provide parking for an additional two vehicles.  

• Plot 7 – Four bedroomed property – Attached double garage with hardstanding 

outside which could provide parking for an additional two vehicles. 

• Plot 8 – Four bedroomed property – Attached double garage with hardstanding 

outside which could provide parking for an additional two vehicles. 

• Plot 9 – Five bedroomed property – Triple garage with hardstanding outside 

which could provide parking for at least an additional two vehicles. 

• Plot 10 – Four bedroomed property - Double garage with hardstanding outside 

which could provide parking for at least an additional two vehicles.  

• Plot 11 – Two bedroomed property – Attached single garage and hardstanding 
to the front of the garage for one additional parking space.  

• Plot 12 – Two bedroomed property – Attached single garage and hardstanding 
to the front of the garage for one additional parking space.  

• Plot 13 – Five bedroomed property – Double garage with hardstanding outside 
which could provide parking for at least an additional two vehicles. 

Page 110



• Plot 14 – Three bedroomed property - Single garage and hardstanding to the 
front of the garage for one additional parking space and one parking space to 

the front of the dwelling itself.  

• Five Visitor Parking spaces are also sought within the site. 

 
In relation to cycle provision, it has been outlined that this would occur either within 

the garages or through cycle storage sheds. No information has been submitted 
regarding cycle sheds and therefore it is considered necessary that details regarding 
cycle provision and any structures are submitted through the condition process.  

 
The Highway Officer has also outlined that each property should be provided with an 

EV charging point to meet building regulations and the Council’s promotion of more 
sustainable development design. In this regard, the Transport Statement confirms that 
each plot is to be provided with electric vehicle charging facilities.  

 
The Highway Officer therefore raised no objection in relation to the access, vehicle 

movements or parking provision. Several conditions are recommended in relation to 
highway matters as below and are considered necessary and reasonable:  
 

• The access, turning and parking spaces shall be completed in accordance with 
eth approved plans and maintained for those purposes thereafter.  

• A Construction Management Plan to be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority to minimise the detrimental effects to neighbours and 
dangers to highway safety during the construction phase.  

• Visibility splays to be as proposed within the submission.  

• Cycle storage details to be submitted for consideration.  

 
 

- Footway Link, New Bus Stop Location and Improvements to the Highway 
Proposed 

 

As part of the proposal to provide some off-site mitigation, the applicant has sought to 
improve the access for walking to local facilities. In particular, it has been 

acknowledged that whilst there is a footpath opposite the application site, it does not 
connect to the footpath along Poulshot Road (around the bend). This missing footway 
area (as demonstrated on the diagram from the submitted Transport Statement below) 

has been identified and it is proposed that a new pedestrian footway to the side of the 
highway (south) would be proposed to connect the existing footways of the area. This 

in turn would benefit residents that seek to walk safely around these areas, including 
towards St Peters Church, which is situated down the track to the south of this footway 
area.  

 

Page 111



 
 
In this regard, the Highway Officer raised no objection. It has been noted that in order 
to fully integrate the development in the wider context this has been provided as a 

highway improvement. Furthermore, an informal crossing point is proposed and a 
footway across the site frontage, which can be considered an improvement in highway 

grou.  
 
The new bus stop location to the frontage of the application site is considered a 

highway improvement. The new location would formalise the appearance and 
attractiveness of using it by reason of the bus shelter (for eastbound use) and space 

proposed. As outlined within the submission a Council funded school bus (to Devizes 
secondary school) does stop in this locality and this new bus shelter with flag and 
poles would formalise this stop.  The Highway Officer raised no objection to this siting. 

Furthermore the Officer noted the suggestion of the implementation of a gateway 
feature to the approach to the village (to be enhanced in the interests of vehicle 

speeding which has been raised as a concern from neighbouring occupants) which 
has been acknowledged and considered to be a highway improvement in this regard 
(and would be a form of Grampian condition).  

 
The Highway Officer therefore raised no objection in relation to these highway 

improvements. The following condition was however recommended and is considered 
acceptable and reasonable: 
 

• No dwelling shall be occupied under the shared use path connecting to Byway, 
the footway across the site frontage, the crossing point, bus stop, village 

entrance feature and footway extension at the junction of Mill Lane has been 

Page 112



implemented to the satisfaction of the Local Highway Authority under a Section 
278 agreement.  

 
It has been duly noted that a number of public objections have raised concerns 

regarding highway safety, noting the number of dwellings proposed would mean 
additional traffic generation, and the immediate highway needs improvements such as 
widening and traffic calming. Whilst the requested further improvements to the 

surrounding highway may be desirable, the application propose a number of mitigation 
measures to attempt to address these concerns. Highway safety would be improved 

around the immediate area thorough the works to footways as well as the gateway 
feature - these are acceptable to the Local Highway Authority.  
 

- Rights of Way 
 

The Council’s Rights of Way Officer has reviewed the scheme and noted that the 
proposed shared used pathway which would link the application site and the Public 
Right of Way Byway (POUL3) is a benefit to the Public Right of Way network. It is 

furthermore noted that it would be preferred if this would be recorded on the definitive 
map, and it has been requested that this is controlled by way of planning condition.  

 
The Rights of Way Officer also noted that as this development would lead to an 
increase in the vehicular use of Poulshot Road, since Poulshot Road forms part of a 

long distance promoted walking route called the White Horse Trail. It was commented 
by the Officer that: “I believe that the farm may still be owned by the farmer who farms 

land alongside Poulshot Road. If this is still the case, then to mitigate the increased 
use of Poulshot Road by vehicles connected to this development if the farmer could 
again dedicate a new Public Footpath on the edge of these fields then that would 

remove the need for walkers to walk on the road or verges for 280m.”  Section 106 
contributions were also requested which will be considered within the Developer 

Contribution sections of this report.  
 
Following the receipt of comments from the Rights of Way Officer, the applicant 

responded that the additional changes sought along Poulshot Road were 
unreasonable and unnecessary to make the development acceptable in planning 

terms. In particular, it was commented that the applicant has no rights over the land 
between WORT 1 and the site, whereby there are multiple landowners. The start of 
WORT 1 is circa 280m from the application site. The proposal has focused its rights 

of way improvements on linking the site to POUL3 and the new footways which link to 
existing footways along Poulshot Road towards the village of Poulshot.  

 
It was suggested by the applicant that a permissive route could occur along Poulshot 
Road to the south-west, which goes partially down towards the footpath of WORT 1 

(though would connect back to the public highway). This has been informally offered 
and it has been stated that if this was to occur, it would be separate from this 

application process and would have to involve the landowner (not the applicants who 
have had discussions only with the landlord) and the Rights of Way Team.  The Rights 
of Way Officer reviewed the comments submitted by the applicant and subsequently 

raised no objection subject to the footpath link between the development and POUL 3 
bein a public footpath and the permissive path being provided. Subject to the provision 

Page 113



of both paths, it was confirmed that the request for Section 106 contributions for 
upgrades to WORT1 and the realignment for WORT1 would be removed.  

 
Further to this comment being made, the applicant still did not agree that the 

permissive path is necessary to make the development acceptable, noting the 
commitments already made to the undertake right of way improvements. Having 
considered the information submitted, the comments made by the applicant are 

agreed with. Whilst a permissive path along Poulshot Road (within the agricultural 
field) would be desirable for the area, it is not considered that the lack of this path 

would result in an insufficient or inadequate infrastructure to serve he development. 
The applicants have provided right of way improvements through the provision of the 
shared footpath, footways within the site and highway improvements through the new 

footways along Poulshot Road to the south-east. It must also be noted that the initial 
comments from the Right of Way Officer only requested a path in this area along 

Poulshot Road if the land was owned by the applicant.  This area is owned by other 
landowners, and thus whilst a permissive pathway would be welcomed, it is not 
considered to be justified in order to make the development acceptable.  

 
The existing Right of Way routes would not be adversely impacted by the development 

built form itself, nor through the construction works, as no right of way would be 
crossed (noting in particular that is construction vehicles were to use Byde Mill Lane 
access it would not cross POUL3 as this starts to the north of the access point). As 

such, subject to a condition regarding the proposed footpath and the conditions 
recommended by the Highway Officer (such as the provision of the highway 

improvements and a Construction Management Plan), there would be no adverse 
impact upon the Right of Way network.  
 

Drainage and Flood Risk 
  

Core Policy 67 requires that all new development will include measures to reduce the 
rate of rainwater run-off and improve rainwater infiltration to soil and ground 
(sustainable urban drainage) unless site or environmental conditions make these 

measures unsuitable. 
 

The development falls entirely within Flood Zone 1, classified as low probability of 
flooding with Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment mapping showing the site 
itself as being of low risk of ground water flooding. Regarding surface water flooding 

parts of the site have risk, including the frontage to Poulshot Road, the slu rry pit and 
small parts of the site including the existing access track from Byde Mill Lane.  

 
The application has been supported by a Site-Specific Flood Risk Assessment which 
has been reviewed by the Council’s Drainage Officer. This report and scheme have 

proposed flood mitigation measures to reduce flood risk from surface water, 
groundwater and sewer sources both on and offsite. The flood mitigation measures 

include: 
 

- Sequential approach to locate dwellings within the broad footprint of the existing 

built form.  
- Re-profiled site to remove localised low spots where surface waters could 

collect (specifically at the location of the slurry lagoon, around former buildings 

Page 114



and low point in the verge along Poulshot Road). Site levels would manage 
exceedance flow routes to ensure that water is directed into the proposed 

attenuation pond or onsite ditches/watercourses; 
- Reduction of areas of hardstanding as a result of the development. With 16.8% 

reduction within the Poulshot Road frontage which  would reduce runoff rates 
and volumes. Overall reduction of hardstanding of the site is circa 58%. 

- Provision of a surface water drainage system to intercept and manage runoff; 

- Reconfiguration of the site’s surface water drainage system to remove a 
connection and reduce uncontrolled overland flows into the highway drain on 

Poulshot Road; 
- Finished floor levels would be set 300mm above the 1 in 1000 year surface 

water flood level or 300mm above existing ground levels, whichever is higher; 

- Retention of onsite watercourses within the site layout; 
- Deculverting a 100m length of culverted watercourse, creating an open 

naturalised channel to intercept the overland flow route to the north and creating 
flood storage and wetland habitat; 

- Provision of a flood mitigation bund on the northern boundary; 

- Provision of an emergency plan as a precautionary measure to inform future 
residents about the residual flood risk along Poulshot Road; 

- Foul water drainage would be designed and constructed as a sealed system to 
prevent the ingress of groundwaters (or surface waters) into the foul water 
drainage network.  

 
The mitigation measures would ensure that there would be a flood risk betterment by 

reducing contributing impermeable areas, providing a surface water drainage system, 
incorporating attenuation storage and flow control to reduce runoff rates and intercept 
overland flows. An outfall swale and deculverting to create an open naturalised 

watercourse would increase flood storage and intercept overland flows. These 
mitigation measures have been outlined to provide a betterment from offsite flood risk 

associated with the Poulshot Road frontage and overland flow route to the north.  
 
In relation to Poulshot Road, it is acknowledged that considerable concern has been 

raised by the public (and noted by the Parish) that this area is liable o flooding. As 
outlined within the submitted assessment, “the risk of surface water flooding along 

Poulshot Road would be reduced as a result of the redevelopment of the site bu t a 
residual risk would remain.” The recalculated  hazard rating for this area would result 
in a ‘low’ flood hazard rating for the surface water risk along the Poulshot Road 

frontage. The Assessment clearly has considered the concerns raised by the 
neighbouring occupants but notes that it is Wiltshire Council’s responsibility as the 

Highway Authority to unblock/repair defective highway drainage infrastructure.  
 
In this respect, it is agreed that the development would be appropriately safe for its 

lifetime, taking account of the vulnerability of its users, and would not increase flood 
risk elsewhere. Appropriate mitigation measures are proposed, and these would 

reduce flood risk overall in the locality, which would in turn benefit both the future 
residents and the existing community. It is acknowledged that there would still be a 
risk of some flooding along the frontage of Poulshot Road however it would likely be 

reduced as a result of the measures proposed. 
 

Page 115



The Council’s Drainage Officer (Lead Local Flood Authority) raised no objection to the 
proposed development subject to conditions to ensure that the drainage system is fully 

acceptable and can be controlled by the Local Planning Authority. Whilst the 
conditions are deemed reasonable and necessary to ensure appropriate drainage of 

the site, it must be acknowledged that the wording of the conditions recommend has 
been changed to reflect changes proposed by the applicant. In particular the applicant 
noted that the modelling methodology has been set out as a 2D model, whereby a 1D-

2D model may better re the detailed flood mechanism, therefore it was requested that 
the prescriptive modelling methodology be removed from the condition wording to 

allow some flexibility in this. It was further raised by the applicant that in relation to the 
recommended condition 3 (as per the Drainage Officer comments) that no attenuation 
tank is being proposed (as a basin is proposed) and cross sections of this basin have 

already been provided under appendix 13 of the Risk Assessment. It is therefore 
considered that the recommended condition 3 does not fully relate to this development 

and is not reasonable to impose.  
 
Subject to the amended condition wordings, the proposal is acceptable in terms of 

drainage and flood risk and would accord with Core Policy 67 of the Core Strategy.  
 

Ecology 
 
Core Policy 50 outlines that development proposals must demonstrate how they 

protect features of nature conservation and that all developments should seek 
opportunities to enhance biodiversity.  

 
The application has been supported by an Ecological Appraisal, Landscape Mitigation 
and Enhancement Strategy and a Biodiversity Metric. These documents have been 

considered by the Council’s Ecology Officer who has raised no objection  to the 
contents or mitigation proposed in this regard, taking into account the various mapping 

of the surrounding area and the review of the designated sites and existing records of 
protected/notable species. The submitted Ecological Appraisal acknowledges the 
permanent removal and change of the old dairy farm however the residual impact is 

not considered to be significant. Good working methods and the scheme design are 
defined to ensure complete protection of foraging bats, common mammals and nesting 

birds. As part of the scheme, there would be landscaping incorporated, including public 
amenity planting and semi-natural habitats within public open space. New habitats 
include floristically-rich grassland, a surface water pond, field ditches, species-rich 

native boundary hedgerow, domestic hedging within the site and mix of native trees 
and shrubs. Mitigation measures also proposed include 10 bat roosting boxes and 27 

swift nesting boxes on the proposed buildings. As such, it was concluded that the 
proposed development would be positive in a local context.  
 

Regarding biodiversity net gain (BNG), it must be noted that the scheme was made 
on the 9th February 2024 which is before BNG became mandatory from the 12th 

February 2024 for schemes such as ‘majors. A BNG metric has been submitted which 
demonstrates a positive net gain well in excessive of 10% (circa 85%). As noted below, 
the Ecology Officer has requested that the BNG metric forms part of the approved 

documents and that this net gain is highly welcomed since it would accord with Core 
Policy 50, which seeks opportunities to enhance biodiversity. It is however not 

considered reasonable or necessary to impose the standard conditioning for a 

Page 116



biodiversity gain plan or potential legal agreements regarding monitoring of net gain 
benefits that would have been reasonable if the scheme was liable to the BNG under 

Schedule 7A of the Town and County Planning Act 1990 (as inserted by Schedule 14 
of the Environment Act 2021). The proposal, by reason of the mitigation measures and 

landscaping proposed, as submitted under the approved documents, would still be in 
accordance with Core Policy 50 and biodiversity of the site would be adequately 
protected, with enhancement also proposed.  

 
The Ecology Officer raised no objection subject to the following conditions (in 

summary): 
 

- Proposal to be carried out in strict accordance with the submitted ecology 

documents.  
- A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) to be submitted and 

approved.  
- A Landscape and Ecology Management Plan (LEMP) to be submitted and 

approved.  

 
Informatives are also recommended regarding great crested newts/reptiles, bats and 

breeding birds. These conditions and informatives are considered reasonable and 
necessary in the interests of ecology and are therefore recommended.  
 

Developer Contributions – Affordable housing, play/sport facilities/ open space, 
education, waste and rights of way 

 
Core Policy 3 advises that ‘All new development will be required to provide for the 
necessary on-site and, where appropriate, off-site infrastructure requirements arising 

from the proposal. Infrastructure requirements will be delivered directly by the 
developer and/or through an appropriate financial contribution prior to, or in 

conjunction with, new development. This Policy is in line with the tests set under 
Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010, and 
Paragraph 57 of the National Planning Policy Framework. These are: 

 

• Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 

• Directly related to the development; and 

• Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development 

 
The infrastructure items listed below are those that are relevant to the Application site 
and are required in order to mitigate the impact of the proposed scheme (the 

calculation is based on the net addition of dwellings which is 14).  
 

- Affordable housing 
 
Core Policy 43 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy, as currently amended by the National 

Planning Policy Framework, sets out that a requirement for 30% on-site affordable 
housing provision on all sites of 10 or more dwellings. The above policy requires 

affordable housing to be secured via a legal agreement. Core Policy 45 also requires 
affordable dwellings to address local housing need and to incorporate a range of 
different types, tenures, sizes of homes in order to create a balanced community. Core 

Policy 46 requires in suitable locations, new housing to meet the needs of vulnerable 

Page 117



people. The completed affordable dwellings (other than First Homes) will be required 
to be transferred to a Registered Provider, approved by the Counci l, or to the Council, 

on a nil subsidy basis.  
 

The applicant has agreed to provide 4 affordable housing units which meets the 30% 
required. In order to meet policy requirements, the affordable housing units should be 
provided with a tenure mix of 60% (2 units), affordable rented of 25% (1 unit) First 

Homes and 15% of Shared Ownership. A tenure mix and unit size breakdown (based 
on current demonstrable need and policy approaches) is as follows:  

 
Affordable Rent (60%) = 2 units 
1 x 2 bed 4 person house 

2 x 3 bed 5 person house 
 

First Homes (25%) = 1 unit 
1 x 2 bed 4 person house 
 

Shared Ownership (15%) = 1 unit 
1 x 3 bed 5 person house 

 
This mix has been outlined by the applicant in the proposed scheme (Plots 2 – 5). This 
will be secured by the Section 106 agreement.  

 
In order to ensure that the affordable housing units are eligible for inclusion in Homes 

England’s Affordable Housing programme, all affordable homes should be built to 
meet at least 85% of the Nationally Described Space Standard. The proposed units 
meet these standards. Furthermore the number of parking bays per unit would meet 

current policy in this regard.  
 

- Education  
 
Core Policy 3 requires new development to provide for essential related infrastructure 

(including education facilities) to be delivered, where appropriate, through financial 
contributions. Similarly Saved Policy HC37 states that ‘a contribution towards 

improvement of the existing school infrastructure will be sought where there is 
evidence that demonstrates that the need for the improvement is a consequence of 
the new housing development’. 

 
Early Years Places 

 
There is currently 1 preschool and 0 childminders within a two-mile safe walking route 
of this development. This provision if operating at full capacity. Any increase in 

population as a result of this development will require additional childcare provisions. 
Based on the 13 qualifying properties (1 property is deducted from the calculations 

due to the affordable housing discount): 
 

• Early years places: 13 x 0.04 = 0.52 0–2-year-olds and 13 x 0.09 = 1.17 3-4-yearolds. 

Added together this = 1.69 rounded to 2 early years place at £17, 522 = £35,044. 
 

 

Page 118



Primary School Places 
 

Data for Rowde and Five Lane Primary Schools is that capacity is 294 places, October 
2023 census data is 134 pupils and current forecasts at a peak of 144 pupils by 

September 2024. Places required by in area housing registered/approved but not yet 
completed or in the forecasts =31. As such there are places currently available across 
the in area Primary Schools.  

 

• Primary school places:  £18,758 each. However, there is sufficient space in the local 

schools to accommodate the needs of this development, and so have no S106 
requirement for primary school places from this application. 

 
Secondary School Places 
 

PAN years 7-11 have a capacity of 1150, with October 2023 data confirming 969 
pupils. Current forecasts indicate a peak of 968 pupils by September 2024, but 

numbers then drop in line with smaller cohorts feeding through from Primary Schools. 
Current demand from in area housing already registered/approved that has not yet 
started or in forecasts require a further 194 places. As such given the declining roll, 

the school will be able to accommodate the pupils generated from this development.  
 

• Secondary school places: £22,940 each. However, there is sufficient space in the 

local schools to accommodate the needs of this development, and so have no S106 

requirement for secondary school contributions from this application. 
 

- Public Open Space and Play Areas 

 
The principle of obtaining quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and 

recreation is stated in paragraph 102 of the NPPF. Core Policy 52 of the WCS supports 
this by stating that accessible open standards should be in accordance with the 
adopted Wiltshire Open Space Standards. Open space is listed as place shaping 

infrastructure under priority theme 2 of Core Policy 3 of the WCS. 
 

To comply with the above policy it is necessary to secure on-site public open space or 
off-site contributions to ensure the health and well-being of the future occupants of the 
development site. The increase in population caused by the development will have an 

impact on existing leisure facilities and, it is therefore also necessary to upgrade a 
local facility to cater for the likely increased demand. 

 
The provision of public open space (POS) is to serve the needs of the future occupants 
of the housing scheme and thus its provision on-site or off-site is directly related to the 

development. The improvements to off-site leisure facilities directly relates to the 
increase to the local population caused by this development.  

 
The proposal for 14 residential dwellings is considered to generate a requirements of 
137.76m2 of open space and 104.16m2 play.  

 
It has been confirmed by the agent that 1114m2 of open space would be provided on 

site through the identified ‘public green space’ on the plans (to the western part of the 
site around the pedestrian path). Whilst the arrangement of the public open space has 

Page 119



been previously questioned, the space provided is well in excess of the open space 
requirement and has been confirmed by the Public Open Space team to be 

acceptable. No off-site open space contribution is required. Any on-site public open 
space proposed would be secured and agreed to be managed in perpetuity through 

the Section 106 agreement and would not be adopted by Wiltshire Council.  
 
In relation to equipped play on site, there is no proposal for this provision. As such an 

offsite contribution is required of £14,999.04 to upgrade facilities in the vicinity of the 
development. The Public Open Space Officer has identified the Poulshot Village Hall 

Play Area as a suitable target site for any off-site contributions.  
 

- Waste and Recycling  

 
Waste Core Strategy Policy WCS6 requires developers to provide facilities for 

separation and storage of waste for recycling and composting. It also states that any 
such provision must “have regard to the existing Municipal Waste Management 
Strategy”. The Council’s waste strategy expects that new developments are designed 

to enable waste collection services to operate safely and efficiently, and, to this end, 
the waste SPD sets out what is deemed to be safe and efficient. 

 
The Wiltshire Core Strategy at para 4.41 (CP3) identifies sustainable waste 
management facilities as essential components of daily life and therefore critical to 

delivering our strategic goal of building more resilient communities. Waste 
management is listed as place shaping infrastructure under priority theme 1 of Core 

Policy 3 of the WCS. 
 
The provision of bins, and the services required to support waste collection, is a burden 

on the Council that is directly related to new developments. 
 

Recycling and collection facilities are classified as essential infrastructure for the 
purposes of WCS Core Policy 3: Infrastructure Requirements. The Council’s Waste 
Storage and Collection: Guidance for Developers SPD requires financial contributions 

towards the provision of bins and boxes for the dwellings at £101 per dwelling to be 
secured by way of planning obligation. As such a financial contribution of £1414 would 

be secured via legal agreement. 
 

- Highways and Public Right of Way 

 
Core Strategy policies 60 and 61 objectives are to reduce the need to travel particularly 

by private car, and support and encourage the sustainable, safe and efficient 
movement of people and goods within and through Wiltsh ire and identify that new 
development should be located and designed to reduce the need to travel particularly 

by private car, and to encourage the use of sustainable transport alternatives. 
 

The Council’s Highway Officer has not requested any contributions to be controlled 
under a Section 106 agreement. It has been acknowledged that to fully integrate the 
development into its context highway improvements are required, which has been 

sought by the applicant in this proposal. In particular, it has been requested that a 
footway be provided across the site frontage, an informal crossing point, a re-located 

bus stop (including a new flag and bus shelter) and a new length of footway at the 

Page 120



junction to connect to footways to Poulshot along Poulshot Road. The works have 
been deemed achievable within the dedicated highway and will be covered by a 

Section 278 agreement which will require technical approval.  
 

In relation to Rights of Way, as discussed in the Right of Way section of this report, 
Section 106 contributions were initially sought for the development. It was sought that 
a contribution of £6,000 was made to allow the Countryside Access Officers to 

upgrade the stiles on Public Footpath WORT1. A contribution was also sought for 
£3,500 towards the cost of diverting WORT1 to a point much close to BULK13 and 

BULK4 on the grounds of network connectivity and improving walking links between 
Poulshot and Bulkington. Further to conversations with the applicant/agent subject to 
the footpath and permissive footpath (previously discussed) was provided, the request 

for the contributions was withdrawn. Whilst as assessed previously the permissive 
footpath is not considered reasonable in this instance, noting the improvements 

regarding connectively of the site proposed, it is not deemed that the fact that the 
permissive footpath would not be controlled by way of this application (although 
strongly welcomed if to occur outside of the planning process) would trigger a need 

for the contributions again. WORT1 is circa 280m from the applicant site and the Right 
of Way Officer has agreed to withdraw this request for contributions in this regard. As 

such no development contributions are considered necessary in this regard, although 
conditions will relate to controlling the footpaths and highway improvements to ensure 
they take place.  

 
- Summary of Developer Contribution Matters 

 
The education, waste, affordable housing, public right of way and public open space 
teams have all made representations regarding the proposals. No objections have 

been raised subject to the appropriate contributions being secured via suitably worded 
legal agreement. As such the proposal is considered to comply with  Policies CP3, 

CP43, the adopted Planning Obligations DPD, and Policy WCS6 of the Waste Core 
Strategy. 
  

Conclusion/Planning Balance 
 

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework is a material consideration in 

planning decisions. Planning decisions should apply a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development and this means approving development proposals that 

accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay, unless any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 

 
For the purposes of the revised NPPF, Wiltshire Council is a ‘paragraph 77 authority’; 

and, because Wiltshire Council has an emerging local plan that has now passed the 
Regulation 19 stage of the plan-making process – with both a policies map and 
proposed allocations towards meeting housing need – it is now only required to identify 

and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide a 
minimum of four years’ worth of housing which it can demonstrate. The tilted balance 

under paragraph 11d is therefore not engaged. 

Page 121



 
However, it is considered necessary to assess the development plan when taken as 

a whole. As outlined at the start of the report, the application has been brought before 
the Planning Committee as the scheme is considered to be a departure from the 

Development Plan. This is due to the site being located within the ‘open countryside’ 
and not according with Core Policies 1 and 2 of the WCS. The proposal also does not 
accord with any of the WCS exception policies. The proposed development is 

therefore contrary to the housing policies of the Core Strategy and due to the absence 
of the ‘titled balance’, this conflict must be given substantial weight.  

 
The application site would also, due to being contrary to the housing policies of the 
Core Strategy which directs development to sustainable locations and the strong 

reliance expected regarding the use of the private vehicle, be unsustainable in terms 
of its location and would therefore be contrary to Core Policy 61 of the Wiltshire Core 

Strategy. Whilst a bus stop would be re-sited and new footways proposed, this would 
be unlikely to deter the occupants of the development from using their private vehicles, 
noting in particular the infrequency of the buses and the distances to services and 

facilities for daily living. This conflict is given significant weight.  
 

Whilst the above ‘harms’ are noted, the following benefits and neutral impacts are  
acknowledged and considered below.  
 

• Neutral 
 

Regarding the impact upon neighbour amenity and contaminated land, as assessed 
in the above report, subject to conditions there are no identified adverse impacts.  
Neutral weight is therefore afforded to these matters.  

 
Developer contributions (including for waste and recycling, education) would ensure 

that the development is otherwise acceptable and thus whilst they would provide some 
benefits as they are required to meet the policy requirements, this is afforded neutral 
weight in the planning balance.  

 
The dwellings would create the opportunity for the site to develop social and 

community ties and facilitate future community involvement (social sustainability 
matters). This very limited benefit is not considered to outweigh the harm caused by 
the unsustainable location of the application site and thus it is deemed neutral in the 

planning balance.  
 

 

• Benefits 
 

- Landscape and Visual Impact 
 

The proposal would not result in  signficant harm to landscape character due to the 
removal of a redundant farmstead which contains several dilapidated buildings which 
have the strong potential to fall into further disrepair, to the detriment of the character 

and appearance of the area. This is a high-quality scheme, with sufficient soft 
landscaping provision including a ‘transition area’ to the open countryside beyond, and 

would improve the frontage appearance through soft landscaping and footways. Whilst 

Page 122



a change of character from agricultural to residential is considered to give rise to some 
negative impacts, these would be appropriately mitigated through the sensitive design 

of the scheme.  Whilst the lack of landscape harm would not normally give rise to such 
positive weight in the planning balance, in this instance, the re-development of the 

redundant farmyard is considered a visual benefit and would bring the site into re-use 
as opposed to falling into further disrepair. In this particular instance (noting for 
example the location, viability reports submitted, the state of some of the buildings) it 

is considered that the re-development of the land, in landscape and visual impact 
terms, is considered to give rise to significant positive weight in the planning balance.  

 
- Sustainable Construction 

 

The development is proposed to be ‘net zero’ dwellings, with measures such as heat 
pumps, PV arrays, EV charging points, passive design as well as betterments 

regarding flood risk, drainage, ecology etc. As outlined by the Climate Officer, the 
proposal goes beyond policy requirements, though some constructive comments were 
made. Sustainable construction is considered an expectation for new buildings and 

whilst what is proposed goes beyond policy requirements, it is considered that the ‘net 
zero’ dwellings would result in moderate positive weight in the planning balance.  

 
- Heritage Assets 

 

The proposed development would by reason of the re-development of the redundant 
farmstead which has potential to fall into further disrepair, and the conversion of the 

only historical building (Coach House) on site, would provide a betterment to the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area. The frontage of the site (within 
the Conservation Area) would be visually improved, and the significant unlisted 

building of the Coach House would be converted and extended sensitively and would 
bring a re-use to this historic building. It is considered that this would result in 

significant positive weight.  
 

- Highway Impacts and Right of Way 

 
It is acknowledged as above, that the proposal would be within an unsustainable 

location whereby this conflict is given significant weight.  
 
In relation to the access, vehicle movements and parking provision the Highway 

Officer has raised no objection subject to conditions. It is acknowledged that on 
highway grounds has proposed a number of mitigation measures to provide 

betterment to the area. Notably it is proposed that a pedestrian footway would join 
onto Byde Mill Lane and the right of way network to the north, as well as proposing a 
new ‘missing’ footway on Poulshot Road which would allow a footway from the 

application site (whereby a crossing point would occur) to the existing footway along 
Poulshot Road which goes to the village of Poulshot to the north.  

 
The existing bus stop along Poulshot Road is also proposed to be re-sited in front of 
the application site with a new bus shelter to improve the stop for its users. 

Improvements to the village ‘entrance’ gate signs are also outlined which would 
attempt to address concerns from the area that vehicles need to slow down around 

the highway around the application site. These improvements to the area are 

Page 123



considered to go beyond what would normally be required to make the scheme 
acceptable and would benefit not just the future occupants but residents in the locality 

and any walkers etc. using the right of way network. The highway mitigation measures 
are therefore attributed moderate positive weight.  

 
- Drainage and Flood Risk 

 

It has been outlined there would be a drainage betterment in particular though the 
major reduction of hard standing on site (circa 58%), improved surface water 

management including Sustainable Drainage Systems (attenuation pond and swale). 
Furthermore there would be the removal of approximately 100m of culverted 
watercourse in the north of the site and its replacement with circa 106m of naturalised 

watercourse channel, increasing flood storage. These betterments again are deemed 
to go beyond what would be normally required to make an acceptable application and 

would improve drainage and flood risk for the locality. This is afforded moderate 
positive weight.  
 

- Ecology 
 

The proposed scheme would provide a net gain of 85% of biodiversity as a result of 
the development, including the removal of significant levels of hardstanding and 
provision of additional soft landscaping. Whilst Core Policy 50 outlines all development 

should seek opportunities to enhance biodiversity, this scheme goes beyond this 
requirement and also what Biodiversity Net Gain would require if it was applicable in 

this instance. The increase in biodiversity to this significant degree is considered a 
moderate positive weight in this planning balance.  
 

- Other matters 
 

The proposed housing mix is acceptable, and the provision of smaller housing (such 
as two bedroomed) is welcomed to meet some existing local need. The proposal would 
also be providing affordable housing and whilst this is a requirement (and is not going 

beyond what is required) this is still afforded some limited positive weight. 
Furthermore, although the Council is a NPPF Paragraph 77 Authority and therefore 

only required to demonstrate 4YRHLS (which it can do), in the context of NPPF 60 
which sets out the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of 
housing, the provision of additional housing should still attract a limited positive weight.  

 
There would be site remediation of existing contaminants on the site which provides 

limited positive weight.  
 
Economically, it is agreed that the re-use of the redundant dairy use buildings is not 

viable and as a whole it is agreed that economic uses for the site is not likely viable or 
feasible given the status of the buildings, investment required and also noting the 

location of the development such as close proximity to residential properties and rural 
lanes. The site is currently not contributing significantly economically, whereby only a 
few buildings are in use/rented, with the majority of the buildings in disrepair and not 

in use. The proposed development does have moderate positive weight through 
bringing the full site into re-use whereby economically the proposed development 

would encourage development and associated economic growth through the building 

Page 124



works. The future occupants would also contribute to the local economy and to the 
continued viability of local services in the local villages. 

 

• Conclusion 

 
The benefits outlined above are considered to be material considerations. The 
proposal results in redevelopment of a mainly redundant farmstead, that has strong 

potential to detract from the quality of the area and is currently not significantly 
contributing economically to the local area. Furthermore many mitigation measures 

are proposed to improve the site in ways such as drainage and biodiversity as well as 
wider highway and right of way improvements.  Whilst substantial weight is afforded 
to the fact that the proposal is contrary to the housing policies of the Wiltshire Core 

Strategy and its location is not considered sustainable in its siting due to its reliance 
on the private vehicle, the benefits outlined above are considered in this instance to 

outweigh the conflict in this particular exceptional instance.  
 
The development, whilst contrary to the Development Plan, is deemed to comply the 

relevant parts of the NPPF.  For example, Paragraph 9 of the NPPF states that 
planning decisions should play an active role in guiding development towards 

sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take local circumstances into account, to 
reflect the character, needs and opportunities of each area. Paragraph 12 of the NPPF 
states that Local Planning Authorities may take decisions that depart from an up-to-

date development plan, but only if material considerations in a particular case indicate 
that the plan should not be followed.   

 
Therefore, whilst this scheme is a departure from the Development Plan, namely 
relating to the housing policies (CP 1 and 2) and the reliance on the private vehicle 

(CP61), this development should be approved as the benefits that the development 
would deliver would outweigh the harm identified above. 

 
 RECOMMENDATION: 
 

The planning permission be GRANTED, subject to a Section 106 agreement 
covering the matters set out in this report, and subject also to the planning 

conditions listed below.  
 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 

 

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004. 

 

 

 

Page 125



2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans and documents: 

 

Documents: 

 

• Application Form 

• Planning Statement by RCC Town Planning Consultancy - Dated January 

2024 

• Design & Access Statement by Mathewson Water Architects Rev A - 26-7-

2024 

• Transport Statement by PFA Consulting dated December 2023 

• Preliminary Contamination Risk Assessment - P22-069pra_v2 

• Energy and Sustainability Strategy Revision A by JS Lewis Ltc dated 

December 2023 

• Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment - 22.2437 Revision B by 

WHLandscape 

• Flood Risk Assessment by PFA Consulting dated January 2024 

• Waste Audit (x2, January 2024) by Gaiger 

• Ecological Appraisal by Malford Environmental Consulting - 12th December 

2023 

• Biodiversity Metric 4.0 dated 7th December 2023 

• Report on Structural Aspects of the Feasibility of Conversion of an 

Agricultural Outbuilding by Structural Solutions dated 4th April 2023 

• Heritage Impact Statement dated October 2023 

• Statement of Community Involvement 

 

Plans: 

 

• Site Location Plan - Drawing No. 21146.100-H 

• Proposed Block Plan - Drawing No. 21146-102-D 

• Topographical & Drainage Survey Sheets 1 of 3, 2 of 3, 3 of 3- Drawing No. 

24176-200-01-REV D 

• Landscape Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy - Drawing No. WHL-1437-

06 Rev B 

• Hard Landscaping - Drawing No. 21146.114-L 

• Bat & Bird Boxes - Drawing No. 21146.140-A 

• Solar, ASHP & EV Plan - Drawing No. 21146.141-B 

• Demolition Plan - Drawing No. 21146.142 

• Site Cross-Sections - Drawing No. 21146.139-A 

• Plot 1: As Proposed - Drawing No. 21146.124-B 

• Plots 2-5 Elevations - Drawing No. 21146.125-B 

• Plots 2-5: Floor Plans - Drawing No. 21146.116-C 

• Plot 6: Plans & Elevations - Drawing No. 21146.126-A 

Page 126



• Plot 7 - Elevations - Drawing No. 21146.127-B 

• Plot 7: Floor Plans - Drawing No. 21146.119-D 

• Plot 8 - Elevations - Drawing No. 21146.128-B 

• Plot 8: Floor Plans - Drawing No. 21146.120-D 

• Plot 9 - Elevations - Drawing No. 21146.129-D 

• Plot 9: Floor Plans - Drawing No. 21146.122-D 

• Plot 10 - Elevations - Drawing No. 21146.130-B 

• Plot 10: Floor Plans - Drawing No. 21146.121-C 

• Plots 11 and 12 - Elevations - Drawing No. 21146.131-A 

• Plots 11 and 12: Floor Plans - Drawing No. 21146.118-B 

• Plot 13 - Elevations - Drawing No. 21146.132-D 

• Plot 13: Floor Plans - Drawing No. 21146.123-D 

• Plot 14: Plans & Elevations - Drawing No. 21146.133-A 

• P14 Garage & P2-5 stores - Drawing No. 21146.137-A 

• Garages: Plots 1&6 - Drawing No. 21146.135-A 

• Garage: Plot 10 - Drawing No. 21146.135 

• Garage Elevations: Plot 9 - Drawing No. 21146.138-A 

• Garage: Plot 13 - Drawing No. 21146.136-A 

 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 

3. Notwithstanding the details of on the approved plans, no development above 

slab level shall commence on site until the external materials to be used on the 

development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. Details shall include the brick bond and mortar, rainwater 

goods and specifications of materials. Development shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved details. 

 

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance 

of the Conservation Area. 

 

4. No development shall commence on site (including any works of demolition), 

until a Construction Method and Management Statement, which shall include 
the following: 

 
a) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
b) loading and unloading of plant and materials; 

c) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
d) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including 

decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 
e) wheel washing facilities; 
f) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction; 

g) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition 
and construction works; and 

h) measures for the protection of the natural environment. 

Page 127



i) hours of construction, including deliveries; 
j) pre-condition photo survey - any damage related to the development 

will be put right (to the satisfaction of the Local Highway Authority) within 
6 months of the development completion. 

k) monitoring of, and measures to retain, the existing vegetation across 
the site, together with details of drainage arrangements during the 
construction phase. 

 
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 

The approved Statement shall be complied with in full throughout the 
construction period. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in 
accordance with the approved construction method statement. 

 
REASON: To minimise detrimental effects to the neighbouring amenities, the 

amenities of the area in general, detriment to the natural environment through 
the risks of pollution and drainage arrangements and dangers to highway 
safety, during the construction phase. 

 
5. The development hereby approved shall not commence until a Construction 

Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The Construction Management Plan shall include details of 
the following relevant measures: 

 
i. An introduction consisting of construction phase environmental 

management plan, definitions and abbreviations and project description 
and location; 
ii. A description of management responsibilities; 

iii. A description of the construction programme; 
iv. Site working hours and a named person for residents to contact; 

v. Detailed Site logistics arrangements; 
vi. Details regarding parking, deliveries, and storage; 
vii. Details regarding dust and noise mitigation; 

viii. Details of the hours of works and other measures to mitigate the 
impact of construction on the amenity of the area and safety of the 

highway network; and 
ix. Communication procedures with the Local Planning Authority and 
local community regarding key construction issues – newsletters, fliers 

etc. 
 

REASON: In the interests of amenity during the demolition and construction 
phase. 

 

6. No works shall take place on site, including demolition, ground 

works/excavation, site clearance, vegetation clearance and boundary treatment 
works, until a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) is 

submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The Plan 
shall provide details of the avoidance, mitigation and protective measures to be 
implemented before and during the construction phase, including but not 

necessarily limited to, the following: 

Page 128



 
a) Identification of ecological protection areas/buffer zones and tree root 

protection areas and details of physical means of protection, e.g. 
exclusion fencing. 

b) Working method statements for protected/priority species, such as 
nesting birds and reptiles. 
c) Mitigation strategies already agreed with the Local Planning Authority 

prior to determination, such as for great crested newts, dormice or bats; 
this should comprise the pre-construction/construction related elements 

of strategies only. 
d) Work schedules for activities with specific timing requirements in order 
to avoid/reduce potential harm to ecological clerk of works (ECoW) shall 

be present on site. 
e) Key personnel, responsibilities and contact details (including Site 

Manager and ecologist/ECoW) 
f) Timeframe for provision of compliance report to the Local Planning 
Authority; to be completed by the ecologist/ECoW and to include 

photographic evidence. 
 

Development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the approved CEMP. 
 
REASON: To ensure adequate protection and mitigation for ecological 

receptors prior to and during construction, and that works are undertaken in line 
with current best practice and industry standards and are supervised by a 

suitably licensed and competent professional ecological consultant where 
applicable. 

 

7. No development shall commence on site until further work regarding the 

existence of contamination arising from previous uses (including asbestos) has 
been carried out and all of the following steps have been complied with to the 

satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority: 
 
Step (i) a more detailed site investigation and risk assessment should be carried 

out in accordance with DEFRA and Environment Agency’s “Model Procedures 
for the Management of Land Contamination CLR11” and other authoritative 

guidance and a report detailing the site investigation and risk assessment sh all 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Step (ii) If the report submitted pursuant to step (i) indicates that remedial works 
are required, full details must be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and 

approved in writing and thereafter implemented prior to the commencement of 
the development or in accordance with a timetable that has been agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority as part of the approved remediation 

scheme. On completion of any required remedial works the applicant shall 
provide written confirmation to the Local Planning Authority that the works have 

been completed in accordance with the agreed remediation strategy. 
 
REASON: Core Policy 56, To reduce the risks associated with land 

contamination 

Page 129



 

8. No development shall commence on site until the following details are 

submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority: 

 

• Modelling of the site and overland flow route considering proposed 

interventions such as ground profiling, the surface water bund on the 

north western boundary, and de-culverted reach. This modelling should 

include analysis within the overland flow paths and exceedance paths to 

understand the impact of these interventions on flood risk for the 

development site and adjacent land. 

• Details of the measures for managing contamination from the sludge pit. 

• During the infiltration test, perched groundwater was observed in the trial 

pits (TP1 and SA2), and groundwater monitoring was recommended 

rear the attenuation pond to confirm whether lining with clay will be 

required. Monitoring the groundwater level (in line with the 

recommendation made in the submitted FRA) to determine the peak 

groundwater level on site. Details of such to be submitted. 

 

REASON: In the interests of adequate drainage of the site. 

 

9. No development shall commence on site until a Landscape Ecological 

Management Plan (LEMP), including long-term design objectives and targets, 
management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape 
areas (other than small, privately owned, domestic gardens) and ecological 

features within the development, together with a mechanism for monitoring 
success of the management prescriptions, incorporating review and necessary 

adaptive management in order to attain targets has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The landscape 
management plan shall be carried out as approved in accordance with the 

approved details and be implemented in full for the lifetime of the development. 
 

REASON: To ensure the proper management of landscape and ecological 
features retained and created by the development, for the benefit of visual 
amenity and biodiversity for the lifetime of the scheme. 

 

10. No development shall commence above slab level on site until a scheme of 
hard and soft landscaping has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, the details of which shall include: 

 

• a detailed planting specification showing all plant species, supply and 

planting sizes and planting densities; 

• finished levels and contours; 

• means of enclosure, including specifications, heights and materials of 

any boundary fencing; 

Page 130



• all hard and soft surfacing materials; 

• minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse and 

other storage units, signs, lighting etc); 

• proposed and existing functional services above and below ground (e.g. 

drainage, power, communications, cables, pipelines etc indicating lines, 

manholes, supports etc); 

 

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the development and 
the protection of existing important landscape features. 

 

11. All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be 

carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the first occupation 

of any of the dwellings, or the completion of the development, whichever is the 

sooner; All shrubs, trees and hedge planting shall be maintained free from 

weeds and shall be protected from damage by vermin and stock. Any trees or 

plants which, within a period of five years, die, are removed, or become 

seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season 

with others of a similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by 

the local planning authority. All hard landscaping shall also be carried out in 

accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of any part of the 

development or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in writing with 

the Local Planning Authority. 

 

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the development and 

the protection of existing important landscape features. 

 

12. No windows or doors shall be inserted on any dwelling until details of all new 

external window and door joinery have been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved details. 

 

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance 

of the Conservation Area and the significant unlisted building being converted. 

 

13. Prior to first occupation of the dwellings, details of the air source heat pumps 

(including dimensions, appearance and specifications) shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 

be carried out in accordance with these approved details and installed prior to 

first occupation of the dwellings. 

 

REASON: In the interests of sustainable development and visual amenity. 

 

Page 131



14. The permitted rooflights shall be 'conservation rooflights' in style fitted flush with 

the roofslope. 

 

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance 

of the Conservation Area. 

 

15. Prior to the installation of any solar panels, full details shall be submitted to and 

approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The details shall include 

the specifications, colour and fixings. The development shall be carried out in 

accordance with these approved details and installed prior to first occupation of 

the dwellings. 

 

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and sustainable construction. 

16. Prior to works to 'Plot 1' (the Coach House) a repair specification and method 

statement for the conversion of this building shall be submitted to and approved 

by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 

accordance with these approved details. 

 

REASON: In the interests of the character and appearance of the Conservation 

Area and to ensure the appropriate conversion of the significant unlisted 

building. 

17. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be first occupied until the 
access, turning areas, parking spaces and electric vehicle charging points have 

been completed in accordance with the details shown on  the approved plans. 
The areas shall be maintained for those purposes at all times thereafter. 
 

REASON: In the interests of highway safety. 
 

18. There shall be no burning undertaken on site any time of the demolition and 

construction phase. 
 
REASON: In the interests of residential amenity. 

 

19. Construction and demolition works on-site shall be limited to 0800 to 1800 hrs 
Monday to Friday, 0800 to 1300 hrs Saturday and no working shall take place 

on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 
 
REASON: In the interests of residential amenity. 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 132



20. No part of the development shall be first occupied, until the visibility splays 
shown on the approved plans have been provided with no obstruction to 

visibility at or above a height of 600mm above the nearside carriageway level. 
The visibility splays shall always be maintained free of obstruction thereafter. 

 
REASON: In the interests of highway safety 

 

21. The development hereby permitted shall not be first occupied until 10m of the 

access, measured from the edge of the carriageway, has been consolidated 
and surfaced (not loose stone or gravel). The access shall be maintained as 

such thereafter. 
 
REASON: In the interests of highway safety. 

 
22. No dwelling on the development hereby approved shall be occupied until the 

shared use path connecting to Byde Mill Lane, the footway across the site 
frontage, the crossing point, bus stop, village entrance feature and footway 
extension at the junction of Mill Lane (details as approved within the approved 

Transport Statement) have been completed in full.  
 

REASON: To provide the highway mitigation measures and in the interests of 
highway safety. 

 

23. Prior to the installation of the bus stop shelter hereby permitted, full elevation 

plans and details, including materials) shall be submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority. The bus stop shelter (which also would require 

agreement with the Local Highway Authority through the Section 278 
agreement) shall be carried out in accordance with these approved details and 
installed prior to first occupation of the dwellings. 

 
REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance 

of the Conservation Area. 
 

24. Notwithstanding the submitted details, the development hereby permitted shall 

not be first occupied until cycle parking and bin storage facilities for each 
permitted dwelling have been provided in full and made available for use in 

accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The cycle parking and bin storage facilities shall be retained 
for use at all times thereafter. 

 
REASON: To ensure that satisfactory facilities for the parking of cycles and 
storage of waste are provided and to encourage travel by means other than the 

private car. 
 

 

 

Page 133



25. The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the following 

documents: 

 

• Ecological Appraisal (Malford Environmental Consulting, 12th December 

2023); 

• Landscape Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy. Drawing No. WHL-

1437-06 Rev B (WHLandscape, Dec 2023); 

• Biodiversity Metric 4.0 Completed by Dominic Hill, 07 December 2023 

•  

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and for the protection, mitigation and 

enhancement of biodiversity. 

26. Before the development hereby permitted is first occupied the following 

windows shall be glazed with obscure glass only to an obscurity level of no less 

than level 4 and non-opening unless the parts of the window which can be 

opened are more than 1.7 metres above the floor of the room in which the 

window is installed, or the windows are installed with such measures to restrict 

opening as may first have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

local planning authority: 

 

• Plot 7 dwelling - first floor side elevation (south western and north eastern) 

windows. 

• Plot 8 dwelling- first floor side elevation (north eastern and south western) 

windows. 

• Plot 9 garage - first floor window on south western elevation. 

• Plot 10 first floor windows on the south western side elevation. 

• Plot 13 - first floor eastern side elevation windows. 

• Plot 14 - first floor north western side elevation. 

 

The windows shall be permanently maintained with obscure glazing in 

perpetuity. 

 

REASON: In the interests of residential amenity and privacy. 

 

Informatives: 

1. This permission shall be read in conjunction with the Agreement made under 

Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 and dated the 

[INSERT WHEN SIGNED] the requirements of which must be complied with in 

addition to the conditions of this permission. 

 

2. The developer/applicant will be expected to enter into a S278/S38 Agreement 

with the Highway Authority before commencement of works on the highway 

hereby approved. 

Page 134



 

3. There is a low risk that great crested newts / reptiles could occur on the 

application site. These species are legally protected and planning permission 

does not provide a defence against prosecution. In order to minimise the risk of 

these species occurring on the site, the developer is advised to clear vegetation 

during the winter, remove all waste arising from such clearance and maintain 

vegetation as short as possible. If these species are found during the works, 

the applicant is advised to stop work and follow advice from a consultant 

ecologist. 

 

4. There is a low risk that bats may occur at the development site. Bats are a 

transient species and many species depend on buildings for roosting, with each 

having its own preferred type of roost. Most species roost in crevices such as 

under ridge tiles, behind roofing felt or in cavity walls and are therefore not often 

seen in the roof space. Bat roosts are protected all times by the Conservation 

of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019 even when 

bats are temporarily absent because, being creatures of habit, they usually 

return to the same roost site every year. Planning permission for development 

does not provide a defence against prosecution under this legislation or 

substitute for the need to obtain a bat licence if an offence is likely. If bats or 

evidence of bats is found during the works, the applicant is advised to stop work 

and follow advice from an independent ecologist or the applicant is advised to 

follow the advice of a consultant professional ecologist or to contact Natural 

England’s Batline through the internet. 

 

5. The adults, young, eggs and nests of all species of birds are protected by the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) while they are breeding. 

Please be advised that works should not take place that will harm nesting birds 

from March to September inclusive. All British birds, their nests and eggs are 

protected under Section 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 

amended) and the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 while birds are 

nesting, building nests and sitting on eggs. The applicant is advised to check 

any structure or vegetation capable of supporting breeding birds and delay 

removing or altering such features until after young birds have fledged. Damage 

to extensive areas that could contain nests/breeding birds should be 

undertaken outside the breeding season. This season is usually taken to be the 

period between 1st March and 31st September but some species are known to 

breed outside these limits. 

6. The applicant is requested to note that this permission does not affect any 
private property rights and therefore does not authorise the carrying out of any 

work on land outside their control. If such works are required it will be necessary 
for the applicant to obtain the landowners consent before such works 

Page 135



commence. If you intend carrying out works in the vicinity of the site boundary, 
you are also advised that it may be expedient to seek your own advice with 

regard to the requirements of the Party Wall Act 1996. 
 

7. The applicant is advised that the development hereby approved may represent 
chargeable development under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 
2010 (as amended) and Wiltshire Council's CIL Charging Schedule. If the 

development is determined to be liable for CIL, a Liability Notice will be issued 
notifying you of the amount of CIL payment due. If an Additional Information 

Form has not already been submitted, please submit it now so that we can 
determine the CIL liability. 
 

In addition, you may be able to claim exemption or relief, in which case, please 
submit the relevant form so that we can determine your eligibility. The CIL 

Commencement Notice and Assumption of Liability must be submitted to 
Wiltshire Council prior to commencement of development. Should development 
commence prior to the CIL Liability Notice being issued by the local planning 

authority, any CIL exemption or relief will not apply and full payment will be 
required in full and with immediate effect. Should you require further information 

or to download the CIL forms please refer to the Council's Website 
https://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/dmcommunityinfrastructurelevy. 
 

8. Any alterations to the approved plans, brought by compliance with Building 

Regulations or any other reason must first be agreed in writing with the Local 

Planning Authority before commencement of works. 

 

9. Wiltshire Council is the land drainage authority under the Land Drainage Act 

1991. Land drainage consent is required if a development proposes to 

discharge flow into an ordinary watercourse or carry out work within 8m of an 

ordinary watercourse. 

 

 

Page 136

https://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/dmcommunityinfrastructurelevy


Page 137

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE Report No.  

Date of Meeting 22nd August 2024 

Application Number PL/2024/05326 

Site Address Forest View, East Grafton, Marlborough, SN8 3DB 

Proposal Erection of garage 

Applicant Mrs S Clemence  

Town/Parish Council GRAFTON PARISH COUNCIL 

Electoral Division Pewsey Vale East 

Grid Ref 51.343178, -1.635759 

Type of application Householder Planning Application 

Case Officer  Meredith Baker 

 
Reason for the application being considered by Committee 

 
This application has been brought before the Committee at the request of Councillor 

Wheeler should the application be recommended for refusal, on the basis of; the scale 
of the development, visual impact upon the surrounding area, relationship to adjoining 
properties and design – bulk, height, general appearance.   

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
The purpose of the report is to assess the merits of the proposal against the policies 
of the development plan and other material consideration, and to consider the 

recommendation that the application be refused planning permission.  
 

2. Report Summary 
 
The proposed development comprises a detached garage located to the front of the 

existing dwelling, within the domestic curtilage of the site. By reason of its one-and-a-
half storey height, design and siting, it is considered that the proposed garage would 

be an unacceptable outbuilding in this location.  The garage would overdevelop this 
part of the site and whilst it would not be highly visible from the public realm by reason 
of the mature hedgerow along the site boundary, it would cause harm to the character 

and appearance of the area, being a contrived development within the site. The 
proposal would also fail to preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the 

East Grafton Conservation Area, with be no public benefits to outweigh the harm 
caused. As such, the proposal is considered to be contrary to the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) 2023 and Core Policies 57 and 58 of the Wiltshire Core 

Strategy.  
 

In addition, insufficient information has been submitted with the application to 
adequately demonstrate that the proposal would protect and safeguard the 

Page 139



surrounding trees, large shrubs and hedges within the East Grafton Conservation Area 
contrary to the NPPF (2023) and Core Policies 51 and 57 of the Wiltshire Core 

Strategy; this is in particular noting that the garage structure is larger in scale and 
works than the parking spaces permitted under planning reference PL/2023/05139 

(whereby the Arboricultural Impact Assessment has been re-submitted under this 
application and has not been updated). 
 

In relation to impact upon residential amenity, highways, ecology and drainage the 
proposal is considered acceptable.   

 
3. Site Description 

 

The application site comprises the residential plot of Forest View located within the 
built-up settlement of East Grafton. The site is located within the East Grafton 

Conservation Area and is washed over by the North Wessex Downs National 
Landscape.  
 

The site currently comprises a two-storey dwelling with associated outbuildings, 
including a detached annexe. The rear and eastern side of the site are parts of the 

existing garden associated with the dwelling. This has not been included within the red 
line as two dwellings have been approved within the wider site under planning 
reference PL/2023/05139. To the front of the site (north) there is a substantial hedge 

fronting the highway, together with an associated vehicular access point.  
 

Below is an extract from the submitted Location Plan that shows the context of the 
site.  
 

 
 
 

Below is the submitted Site Plan which demonstrates the site with the approved two 
dwelling application (planning reference PL/2023/05139), the works for which have not 

Page 140



yet started on site, and more importantly shows the existing annexe location approved 
under planning reference PL/2022/08348 which is in -situ.  

 

 
 

 
 

4. Planning History 

 
PL/2023/05139 - Demolition of existing garage and erection of replacement garage 

to serve Forest View. Erection of 2 no. new dwellings with associated access, 
parking, landscaping and private amenity space – Granted 02.02.2024 
 

PL/2022/08348 - Timber Framed Granny Annexe for Ancillary Accommodation – 
Granted 04.01.2023 

 
PL/2022/04600 - Timber Framed Granny Annexe for Ancillary Accommodation – 
Granted 16.08.2022 

 
E/2011/1550/FUL -Two storey side extension and installation of PV panels. – 

Granted 22.12.2011  

Page 141



 
K/32972 – The erection of a detached dwelling with integral garage together with 

erection of detached double garage to serve Forest View – Refused – 13.08.1996 
 

K/16023/L – Demolition of existing dwelling and outbuildings in Conservation Area – 
Refused 12.07.1990 
 

K/16020/L – Demolition of existing dwelling and outbuildings in Conservation Area – 
Refused 12.07.1990 

 
K/16017 – Residential development – Refused 12.07.1990 
 

K/16016 – Residential development – Refused 12.07.1990 
 

K/14305/L – Demolition of existing dwelling and outbuildings – Refused 29.08.1989 
 
K/14310 – Erection of 4 detached houses & alteration to access – Refused 

29.08.1989 
 

K/14301 – Erection of 4 detached houses and alterations to access – Deemed 
refusal – 01.08.1989 
  

K/14307/L – Demolition of existing dwelling and outbuildings – Deemed refusal – 
01.08.1989 

 
K/86/0870 – Detached garage – Granted 20.10.1986 
 

K/82/0817 – New vehicular access (replacing existing which will be filled in) – 
Granted 18.11.1982 

 
 

1. The Proposal  

 
The application seeks planning permission for the erection  of a new one a half storey 

garage building to the front of the site, set adjacent to the public highway to the north. 
The garage is proposed to be circa 6.7 metres in width and depth with a ridge height 
of 6.1 metres and an eaves height of 3.5 metres. The proposed materials would 

comprise a brick plinth and timber boarded walls with clay tile roofing.  
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 142



Proposed scheme:  
 

 
 Planning Policy 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 2023 (NPPF) 
 

Section 2 (Achieving sustainable development) 
Section 4 (Decision-making) 

Section 7 (Ensuring healthy and safe communities)  
Section 9 (Promoting sustainable transport) 
Section 11 (Making effective use of land) 

Section 12 (Achieving well-designed and beautiful places)  
Section 14 (Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change)  

Section 15 (Conserving and enhancing the natural environment) 
Section 16 (Conserving and enhancing the historic environment) 
 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
National Design Guidance 
 

 
 

Page 143



Wiltshire Core Strategy (WCS): 
 

Core Policy 41: Sustainable Construction and Low Carbon Energy 
Core Policy 50: Biodiversity and Geodiversity  

Core Policy 51: Landscape 
Core Policy 57: Ensuring High-Quality Design and Place-Shaping 
Core Policy 58: Ensuring the Conservation of the Historic Environment 

Core Policy 60: Sustainable Transport 
Core Policy 62: Development Impacts on the Transport Network 

Core Policy 64: Demand Management 
Core Policy 67: Flood Risk 
Core Policy 68: Water Resources 

 
Other Documents and Guidance 

 
Wiltshire Local Transport Plan 2011 – 2026 – Car Parking Strategy (March 2011)  
North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan 2019-

2024 
Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

East Grafton Conservation Area Appraisal 
Section 85 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 
Wiltshire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

 
2. Consultation responses 

 
Grafton Parish Council: “fully supports this planning application” 
 

Drainage Officer: No objection.  
 

Highway Officer: “There is no highway objection to the erection of a garage for parking 
and storage for the existing dwelling. There is a previously permitted scheme for two 
dwellings that will share the access for this proposal. Provided the conditions for 

2023/05139 are met they will not need to be repeated within this permission. 
The quantum of parking for the site is adequate, however I will recommend 

conditioning the parking within the garage in order to prevent the loss of existing 
parking for Forest View or the ancillary annex if the garage were to be further 
converted to habitable accommodation. 

 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 1995 (as amended by the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (Amendment) (No.2) (England) Order 2008 (or any Order 
revoking or re-enacting or amending that Order with or without modification), the 

garage(s) hereby permitted shall not be converted to habitable accommodation. 
 

REASON: To safeguard the amenities and character of the area and in the interest of 
highway safety.” 
 

Arboricultural Officer: ‘The Arboricultural Report submitted was prepared to 
accommodate a previous application and does not contain the appropriate information 

to consider the current proposal in relation to trees and hedgerows on the property. 

Page 144



 

In light of the number of trees already approved to be removed from this property 
through previous planning permission, it is important that the remaining trees and 

hedges are retained. 
 
The construction of the proposed garage may cause damage to the Lawson Cypress 

tree and the hedge to the North of the site. As these are key features within the 
Conservation Area and their loss could have a negative impact on the character of the 

local area, they require consideration when determining the methods and materials 
used to facilitate the proposal. 
 

An Arboricultural Impact Assessment with a Tree Constraints Plan, Tree Protection 
Plan and Arboricultural Method Statement is required prior to determination to ensure 

that the proposal does not result in the damage or loss of both the tree and the 
hedgerow. 
 

Please reconsult when the above information has been received.” 
 

3. Publicity  
 
The application has been advertised by letter to local residents.  No third-party 

representations have been received. 
 

4. Planning Considerations  
 
Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and section 38(6) of the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require that the determination of 
planning applications must be made in accordance with the Development Plan unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Principle of Development 

   
The proposed plans relate to a ‘householder’ proposal within the domestic curtilage of 

the property, namely a detached garage. The principle of householder works within 
the site is acceptable, subject to other materials consideration as assessed below.  
 

Design and Visual Impacts 
  

Core Policy 57 requires a ‘high standard of design’ for all new developments and to 
draw on the local context and be complementary to the locality. Core Policy 51 requires 
that development should protect, conserve and where possible enhance the 

landscape character and must not have a harmful impact upon landscape character, 
while any negative impacts must be mitigated as far as possible through sensitive 

design and landscape measures.  
  
The application site is situated at the edge of the built-up settlement of East Grafton 

and is also situated within the East Grafton Conservation Area. The existing site is well 
screened by mature vegetation and trees.  

 

Page 145



Whilst the principle of constructing a garage on site is acceptable, and would not be 
detrimental to the character of the area or street scene, consideration has been given 

towards the size, design and siting. The existing site benefits from a large, detached 
dwelling which varies in design between a one a half storey ‘chalet’ bungalow 

appearance and a two storey gable end section, and an existing single storey annexe 
building (which is situated forward of the dwelling to the western side of the plot).  
 

In terms of siting, the garage would be located to the front of the dwelling however by 
virtue of the pattern of development in the locality, it would not be forward of any strong 

building line of note. The siting forward of the existing annex against the highway to 
the north is however considered to be undesirable. In isolation, the siting of the garage 
is not considered harmful if the proposal was for a low-key garage structure which had 

a light-weight appearance (such as a car port) to visually reduce the amount of 
development in this part of the site. This amendment was suggested to the applicant 

but was not taken forward. The siting however must be taken into account together 
with the design and scale of the development and assessed as a whole.  
 

The proposed garage is one a half storey in height with a ridge height of 6.1 metres  
and is designed to have a one and a half storey appearance by reason of the first-floor 

windows on the east and western elevations. The scale and design of the garage is 
deemed substantial when taking into account the context to the front of the site, in 
close proximity to the existing dwelling and annex building. The scale of the garage 

building together with the first-floor window design, appears tantamount to a new 
dwelling, and sited in such close proximity to the existing built form on site and the 

hardstanding parking area is considered to give rise to harmful overdevelopment of 
this part of the site. The scale of the garage is also not considered to form a 
subordinate relationship to the host dwelling and its plot, particularly as a result of its 

forward and close siting.  
 

It is acknowledged that the existing residential plot is well screened from the public 
realm as a result of the large mature hedgerow fronting the highway (and vegetation 
to the east and west). Whilst the garage would be predominately screened from the 

public vantage points this does not mitigate the harm to the character of this part of 
the site and the fact the one and half storey design and appearance would overdevelop 

this part of the site and would not form an appropriate subservient addition to the 
dwelling. Furthermore, as will be noted in the tree section of  this report, there is 
insufficient information to determine that the proposal would not harm the hedgerow 

as a result of its close siting. There is therefore the potential that the hedgerow would 
be harmed as a result of the construction and built form of the garage (damaging the 

roots) which could result in the demise of the hedgerow within the street scene.  
 
The proposed materials of timber boarding walls and a tiled roof is also deemed 

acceptable in principle. This however is not considered to mitigate the harm resulting 
from the scale of the building within this site. In the instance that the application was 

however recommended for approval a condition would be imposed that the roof tiles 
shall match the host dwelling to ensure it is in -keeping and of high-quality.  
  

It is therefore considered by virtue of height, design and siting that the proposed 
garage structure would be contrary to Core Policy 57. The proposal would not 

constitute a high standard of design which draws on the local context and be 

Page 146



complementary to the locality. The structure would not enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the area by relating positively to its setting and pattern of 

development (criterion i) and respond positively to the existing townscape by virtue of 
layout, built form, height, mass and scale to effectively integrate the building into its 

setting (criterion iii). 
  
It is however not considered that by virtue of the siting within the built-up settlement of 

East Grafton that the proposal would give rise to harm to the landscape quality of the 
area and would not harm the special rural characteristics of the North Wessex Downs 

National Landscape.  
 
Impact on the historic environment 
  

Local Authorities are required by Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Area) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving 
or enhancing the setting of conservation areas when considering development 

proposals that affect the setting or views into it. This is locally reflected within Core 
Policy 58.  
  

The application site is located within the East Grafton Conservation Area. For the 
reasons given above in the design and visual impact assessment the garage by virtue 

of its design, height and siting would not form a subordinate relationship to the host 
building and is considered to overdevelop this part of the site. Although noted that the 

garage structure would not be highly visible from public vantage points due to the 
hedgerow and vegetation, views may still be afforded and in any instance the lack of 
visibility does not mitigate the harm generated from the size and siting of the building 

within the Conservation Area setting whereby development must be sympathetic and 
enhance or preserve the character of the area.  

  
Is it therefore considered that the East Grafton Conservation Area would not be 
conserved or enhanced as a result of the development contrary to Planning Policy and 

would fall within the ‘less than substantial harm’ category.  
 

As outlined within paragraph 208 of the NPFF, where a development proposal will lead 
to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this 
harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. In this regard this 

application is for a private outbuilding and thus there are no public benefits to the 
proposal that would outweigh the harm generated. It is therefore considered that the 

proposal would give rise to harm towards the designated heritage asset contrary to 
the NPPF and Policies 57 and 58 of the Core Strategy. 
 

Residential Amenity 
  

Core Policy 57 criterion vii) outlines that there needs to have regard to the compatibility 
of adjoining buildings and uses, including the levels of amenity of existing occupants. 
 

By reason of the siting away from the shared boundaries to any neighbouring 
properties (which lie to the south and west) the garage structure would not give rise to 

any unacceptable impacts upon residential amenity in terms of overbearing effect, loss 
of outlook, overshadowing or loss of light. It is acknowledged that a first-floor window 

Page 147



is proposed for both the first floor side elevations. In this regard, the proposed use of 
the first floor would be for storage and views towards ‘The White House’ to the west 

would be towards the front of the site and the parking area as opposed to any private 
amenity area to the rear of the site. As such, by reason of the use of the room, the 

distance from the boundary and the siting whereby any views would be towards the 
more public front of the site, the proposal would not result in any unacceptable 
overlooking or loss of privacy as to justify an objection. The proposal is therefore 

considered acceptable in terms of residential amenity.  
  

Highways 
 
The proposed development involves the provision of a garage for the host dwelling. 

Under the extant permission on the wider site for the provision of two dwellings, a 
condition was imposed that the parking demonstrated and approved is implemented 

(condition 10 of PL/2023/05139) before first occupation. This included the provision of 
two parking spaces for the host dwelling, which is now the location of this proposed 
garage (it is therefore advised that the provision of this garage on site at the same time 

as the two dwelling scheme would result in the need for a Section 73 application as 
there would be changes to the approved plans).  

 
The provision of a double garage, together with the hardstanding on the front of the 
site, would allow for the provision of at least three vehicles on site and therefore there 

is no objection in terms of parking provision. The Highway Officer also reviewed the 
application and raised no objection as the quantum of parking for the site is adequate 

however, it was recommended that a condition is imposed restricting a garage 
conversion takes places in order to prevent the loss of existing parking for Forest View 
or the ancillary annex. This condition would be considered reasonable if the application 

was otherwise recommended for approval, in particular noting that if the garage was 
to be converted, the parking for Forest View would mean a three tandem situation 

which is not a feasible parking situation for the site. As such with the condition, the 
proposal is deemed acceptable in terms of parking and highway safety.  
 

Ecology 
 

The application was supported by a Preliminary Roost Assessment which was 
submitted under the extant permission for the two dwelling scheme. The report 
concluded that the buildings on site due to be impacted by the proposed development 

has a negligible impact on potential for roosting bats. The Ecology Officer (under the 
two dwelling scheme application) was satisfied that the report followed best practice 

guidance and agreed with the assessment submitted. The recommendations and 
mitigations proposed have been controlled by condition under the two dwelling 
application.  

 
Due to the fact that the garage would predominately be sited on an area already 

approved for parking (hardstanding), and noting the contents of the previous 
assessment, it is not considered necessary to request a further ecology assessment 
under this application. The conditions imposed under the two dwelling scheme 

application would still be appliable to that development. The proposal is considered 
acceptable in terms of its impacts upon ecology, although it is considered reasonable 

and necessary if the application was otherwise recommended for approval to re-

Page 148



impose the condition to restrict external lighting, unless the details are submitted and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority through the discharge of condition process. 

With this condition, the scheme is considered acceptable and would accord with Core 
Policy 50.  

 
- Biodiversity Net Gain 

 

The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
is that planning permission granted for development of land in England is deemed to 

have been granted subject to the condition (biodiversity gain condition) that 
development may not begin unless:  
  

(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and  
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.  

  
The planning authority, for the purposes of determining whether to approve a 
Biodiversity Gain Plan, if one is required in respect of this permission , would be 

Wiltshire Council. There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which 
mean that the biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. 

  
Based on the information available, this permission is considered to be one which will 
not require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun 

because one or more of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements in the 
list below is considered to apply: 

• Development which is subject of a householder application within the meaning 
of article 2(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015. A “householder application” means an 
application for planning permission for development for an existing 

dwellinghouse, or development within the curtilage of such a dwellinghouse for 
any purpose incidental to the enjoyment of the dwellinghouse which is not an 

application for change of use or an application to change the number of 
dwellings in a building. 

Trees 
 

The application site is located within the East Grafton Conservation Area and therefore 
the trees within the site area protected as a result of this siting. As demonstrated in 

the submission, and as noted from the site visit, there is several mature trees on site 
which would be impacted as a result of the development.  
 

Under this application an Arboricultural Impact Assessment has been submitted 
however this is a re-submission of the assessment made for planning reference 

PL/2023/05139 (the two dwelling scheme).  Whilst two parking spaces were proposed 
in the area of this garage under this scheme and permitted the removal of one mature 
tree (identified as the Category B – T2), the assessment has not been amended to 

reflect the garage now proposed. Notably, the garage structure would be larger than 
the parking spaces permitted and would be in closer proximity to the Category C – T3 

and the Lawson Cypress Hedging to the northern boundary. The permitted tree 
protection works that have been re-submitted under this application cannot be 

Page 149



implemented if controlled by way of condition as the tree protection measures around 
tree ‘T3’ are now not possible as it overlaps the garage location. It furthermore must 

be acknowledged that there can be differences between parking spaces and a garage 
in terms of its impacts upon root protection areas by reason of its foundations and 

construction into the ground.  
 
The Tree Protection Plan submitted (though relates to the two dwelling scheme): 

 

 
 
The site plan for the current application, demonstrating a larger footprint than the 

hardstanding previous permitted.  
 

 
  
As such, in the absence of an updated Arboricultural Assessment and Tree Protection 

Plan,  insufficient information has been provided to enable the Local Planning Authority 

Page 150



to adequately assess the impact upon trees and the hedgerow, the Council is unable 
to discharge its statutory duty in this regard. The proposal is therefore considered 

contrary to Policy 51 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy which seeks to protect and 
conserve the landscape character and Policy 57 ii) which seeks retention and 

enhancement of important landscaping and natural features (e.g. trees, hedges, banks 
and watercourses) to effectively integrate the development into its setting whereby 
there must be justification and mitigation against any losses that may occur through 

the development. 
 

Drainage and Flood Risk 
 
To support the application the Flood Risk Assessment that was submitted under the 

planning application for the two dwellings (planning reference PL/2023/05139) was re-
submitted. This is to demonstrate that the site is not in an area of groundwater flooding 

(a challenge to the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA)). The SFRA sets out 
what is classified as a High Risk source of other flooding. On page 54 of this document 
it sets out that these are sites where: 

  
· More than 10% of the site is at risk from surface water flooding in the 1 in 

1,000-year event 
· More than 10% of the site is within highest risk category in JBA Groundwater 

map (groundwater is <0.025m below the surface in the 1 in 100-year even) 

[Red layer Appendix G SFRA 2019] 
· More than 755 of the site is within the second highest risk category in JBA 

Groundwater map (groundwater is between 0.025m and 0.5m below the 
surface in the 1 in 100-year event) [Orange Layer Appendix G SFRA 2019] 

 

The application site is covered by more than 75% of the second highest risk category 
in the JBA Groundwater map. As assessed under the previous application the 

Drainage Officer reviewed the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and it was agreed 
that the site is unlikely to be at risk of groundwater flooding and the sequential test 
was not required for the dwelling application.  

 
Under this application, a householder application would not be applicable for the 

sequential test in any case however, the Drainage Officer has reviewed the scheme 
and given the site investigation which demonstrates the site is likely to be at low risk 
of groundwater flooding, the Flood Zone 1 siting, and the nature of the application, the 

development is unlikely to affect flood risk significantly. There are therefore no 
objections in terms of drainage or flood risk as a result of the development and is 

acceptable in this regard.  
 
Conclusion/Planning Balance 

 
The application site comprises an existing dwelling and annex building, located within 

the settlement and Conservation Area of East Grafton and is washed over by the North 
Wessex Downs National Landscape. The principle of a garage structure is acceptable 
on site however, by reason of the height, design and siting of the structure the 

proposed development is considered to give rise to unacceptable harm towards the 
character and appearance of the site and would not preserve or enhance the East 

Page 151



Grafton Conservation Area. The building would not form an appropriate subservient 
relationship with the host dwelling and would overdevelop the front of the site.  

 
Whilst it is acknowledged that the existing residential site is well screened by 

vegetation from the public highway, this does not mitigate the harm from the 
inappropriate development, noting as well that insufficient information has been 
submitted to demonstrate that the proposed development would adversely harm the 

surrounding trees and hedgerows which are protected by reason of being sited within 
the Conservation Area. There are no public benefits or any other planning matters to 

outweigh the harm generated. As such the proposal is considered unacceptable and 
is being recommended for refusal.  
 

 RECOMMENDATION: 
 

That planning permission be REFUSED for the following reasons: 

 

1. The proposed detached outbuilding by reason of its design, height and siting 

would be visually intrusive and detrimental to the character and appearance of 
the site and would overdevelop the front of the site. The proposed outbuilding 

would also fail to preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the 
East Grafton Conservation Area whereby there would be no public benefits to 
outweigh the harm generated. As such the proposal would be contrary to the 

National Planning Policy Framework (2023) and Policies 57 and 58 of the 
Wiltshire Core Strategy. 

 
2. Insufficient information has been submitted to adequately demonstrate that the 

proposal would protect and safeguard the surrounding trees, large shrubs and 

hedges within the East Grafton Conservation Area contrary to the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2023) and Policies 51 and 57 of the Wiltshire Core 

Strategy.  

Page 152


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Planning Appeals and Updates
	 Planning Applications
	Default Section
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: 7) PL/2024/01509 Townsend Farm Yard, Poulshot Road, Poulshot, Devizes, Wiltshire, SN10 1RZ Redevelopment of redundant farmyard to provide 14 ‘net zero’ dwellings (including 4 affordable dwellings) and associated works Recommendation: Approve with
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Slide 11
	Slide 12
	Slide 13
	Slide 14
	Slide 15
	Slide 16
	Slide 17
	Slide 18
	Slide 19
	Slide 20
	Slide 21
	Slide 22
	Slide 23
	Slide 24
	Slide 25
	Slide 26
	Slide 27
	Slide 28
	Slide 29
	Slide 30
	Slide 31
	Slide 32
	Slide 33
	Slide 34
	Slide 35
	Slide 36
	Slide 37
	Slide 38
	Slide 39
	Slide 40
	Slide 41
	Slide 42
	Slide 43
	Slide 44
	Slide 45
	Slide 46
	Slide 47
	Slide 48
	Slide 49
	Slide 50
	Slide 51
	Slide 52: 8) PL/2024/05326 Forest View, East Grafton, Marlborough, SN8 3DB Erection of garage Recommendation: Refuse 
	Slide 53
	Slide 54
	Slide 55
	Slide 56
	Slide 57
	Slide 58
	Slide 59
	Slide 60


	7 PL/2024/01509: Townsend Farm Yard, Poulshot, Devizes, SN10 1RZ
	PL-2024-01509 Townsend Farm Yard Committee Report

	8 PL/2024/05326: Forest View, East Grafton, Marlborough, SN8 3DB
	PL-2024-05326 Forest View Committee Report




